
 

 

 

Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and 
Democratic Services 
County Hall 
Matlock 
Derbyshire 
DE4 3AG 
 
Extension 01629 538328 
Direct Dial 01629 538328 
Ask for Ivan Walters 
 

 
PUBLIC 

 
To:  Members of Regulatory - Planning Committee 
 
 
 

Friday, 21 October 2022 
 
Dear Councillor, 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Regulatory - Planning Committee to be 
held at 12.45 pm on Monday, 31 October 2022 in Committee Room 1, 
County Hall, Matlock, DE4 3AG, the agenda for which is set out below. 
 
Yours faithfully, 

 
Helen Barrington 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services  
 
A G E N D A 
  
PART I - NON-EXEMPT ITEMS  
  
1.   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive apologies for absence (if any) 
  

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
To receive declarations of interest (if any) 
  

3.   Declarations of Significant Lobbying  
 
To receive declarations of significant lobbying (if any) 

Public Document Pack



 

 

  
4.   Petitions  

 
To receive petitions (if any) 
  

5.   Minutes (Pages 1 - 2) 
 
To confirm the non-exempt minutes of the meeting of the Regulatory – 
Planning Committee held on 10 October 2022 
  

To consider the non-exempt reports of the Executive Director – Place on: 
  
6.   Application for Importation and Stockpiling of 50,000 Tonnes of Pulverised 

Fuel Ash (PFA) within Existing Clay Stockpiling Area of Waingroves Quarry 
at Whiteley Road, Ripley, Derbyshire, DE5 3QL - Applicant: Forterra 
Building Products Ltd - Planning Application Code No: CM6/0522/5 (Pages 
3 - 24) 
  

7.   To consider the report of the Director of Legal and Democratic Services on 
Application to register land known as Norbriggs Field, Woodthorpe, 
Derbyshire as a Town or Village Green (VG128) (Pages 25 - 66) 
  

8.   Current Enforcement Action (Pages 67 - 70) 
  

9.   Outstanding Application List (Pages 71 - 72) 
  

10.   Current Appeals/Called in Applications (Pages 73 - 74) 
  

11.   Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Place under Delegated 
Powers (Pages 75 - 76) 
 

 



 

 

PUBLIC 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of REGULATORY - PLANNING COMMITTEE held on 
Monday, 10 October 2022 at Committee Room 1, County Hall, Matlock, DE4 3AG. 
 

PRESENT 
 

Councillor M Ford (in the Chair) 
 

Councillors R Ashton, L Grooby, R Mihaly, D Murphy, P Niblock S Swann (substitute 
member) and M Yates 
 
Apologies for absence were submitted for Councillor R Parkinson and D Wilson. 
 

  
25/22 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
  There were no declarations of Interest 

  
  

26/22 DECLARATIONS OF SIGNIFICANT LOBBYING 
 

 There were no declarations of significant lobbying 
  
  

27/22 PETITIONS 
 

 No petitions were received 
  
  

28/22 MINUTES 
 

 RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 
on 11 April 2022 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the 
Chairman. 
  
  

29/22 CHANGE OF USE APPLICATION FROM A GUEST HOUSE (C1) TO A 
CHILDREN'S HOME (C2) AT 2 COMPTON ROAD, BUXTON, 
DERBYSHIRE, SK17 9DN - APPLICANT: DERBYSHIRE COUNTY 
COUNCIL - PLANNING APPLICATION CODE NO: CD1/07/22/11 
(APPLICATION WITHDRAWN) 
 

 This application had been withdrawn by the applicant. 
 
  

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 

30/22 CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 

 RESOLVED to receive the report on current enforcement action. 
  
  

31/22 OUTSTANDING APPLICATION LIST 
 

 RESOLVED to receive the list on decisions outstanding on 27 September 
2022 relating to eia applications outstanding for more than sixteen weeks, 
major applications outstanding for more than thirteen weeks and minor 
applications outstanding for more than eight weeks. 
  
  

32/22 CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 

 RESOLVED to note that the following appeal has been lodged with the 
Planning Inspectorate:  
  
Appeal Reference APP/U1050/C/20/3257919  
Land at Lady Lea Road, Horsley, Ilkeston  
Appeal against Enforcement Notice Issues on 16 July 2020  
Appeal Start Date – 8 September 2020 
Decision received 21 April 2022 – Enforcement Notice upheld. 
  

33/22 MATTERS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR - 
ECONOMY, TRANSPORT AND ENVIRONMENT UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS 
 

 RESOLVED to note applications that had been approved by the 
Executive Director – Place under delegated powers as detailed in the 
report. 
   

34/22 DEPARTMENTAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 

 RESOLVED to receive the Planning Services Development Management 
Performance Management Statistics for 1 April 2022 to 30 June 2022. 
  
 

The meeting finished at 10.12 am 
 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

 CONTROLLED

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY - PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

31 October 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director of Place 
 

1 Application for Importation and Stockpiling of 50,000 Tonnes of 
Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) within Existing Clay Stockpiling Area of 
Waingroves Quarry at Whiteley Road, Ripley, Derbyshire, DE5 3QL 
Applicant: Forterra Building Products Ltd 
Code No: CM6/0522/5 

6.835.10 
  
1. Introductory Summary 
 
1.1 The applicant, Forterra Building Products Ltd, is the owner and operator 

of Waingroves Quarry (a brick clay quarry near Ripley) and is seeking 
planning permission to import and stockpile temporarily 50,000 tonnes 
of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) at the current clay stockpiling area at 
Waingroves Quarry. The material would be imported over 12 weeks and 
would be stockpiled. The material would be exported when needed to 
existing company brickworks for block manufacturing. 

 
1.2 The site is located within the Green Belt. Amenity and landscape 

impacts have been considered and no significant adverse impacts are 
identified. The proposal is considered to comply with development plan 
policies in the Amber Valley Borough Local Plan (AVBLP) and the 
Derby and Derbyshire Minerals Local Plan (DDMLP). The application is 
recommended for approval subject to planning conditions. 

 
2. Divisions Affected 
 
2.1 Ripley East and Codnor. 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 6



 

 CONTROLLED

3. Purpose 
 
3.1 To enable the application to be determined by the Regulatory - Planning 

Committee. 
 
4. Information and Analysis 
 

The Site 
4.1 The application site is located at Waingroves Quarry, Whiteley Road, 

Ripley. The quarry site lies approximately 1.5 kilometres (km) south-
east of Ripley town centre and is in the Amber Valley Green Belt. The 
site is bordered on three sides by the residential areas of Greenhillocks 
and Marehay to the west, Peasehill, Waingroves and Codnor to the 
north and north-east, and Codnor and Crosshill to the east. The nearest 
residential properties are approximately 200 metres (m) from the 
application site. The extraction of clay, to be used for the purposes of 
brickmaking, has taken place at the site since at least the beginning of 
the 20th century, pre-dating the current planning system. The quarry 
complex has a surface area of 68.4 hectares (ha) and comprises three 
distinct areas of development. These can briefly be described as the 
western area, which is now restored (Phase 1 of the previously 
approved working scheme) and which is adjacent to the residential 
areas of Marehay and Greenhillocks, the southern and eastern areas, 
which form the existing operational quarry and stockpiling areas 
(phases 2 and 3 of the approved scheme), and the northern area, which 
currently comprises a series of agricultural fields, bounded by 
hedgerows and trees. Clay extraction is currently occurring between 
phases 4 and 5 of the approved quarry development plans, to the south 
of Waingroves Hall. 

 
4.2 The site is accessed off Whiteley Road and is approximately 2km east 

of the junction of the A38 and A610. Access to the site crosses the 
Collins Earthworks site from Whiteley Street which the applicant has a 
right of access over. The stockpiling area and quarry form two detached 
areas. The stockpiling area forms a semi-circle bounded by a screening 
mound, supporting a mature screen of trees and wrapping around the 
east, south and west boundaries. The stockpiling area is well screened 
on three sides with an open side to the north dominated by the wide 
expanse of the Collins Earthworks industrial site. 

 
4.3 Approximately 700m to the east of the stockpiling area is Waingroves 

Hall Wood, an ancient and semi natural woodland, with Waingroves 
Hall, Cottage and ancillary barns approximately 500m to the east which 
are Grade II listed and covered by a small conservation area. There is a 

Page 4



 

 CONTROLLED

series of public rights of way that cross the area, with footpaths running 
to the northern boundary, heading to the edge of the quarry, and a 
further footpath to the south and west. 

 
4.4 Planning History 

 
• Permitted development prior approval application code no. PD17/6/53 

– Works compound, approved 29 October 2015. 
• Planning Permission code no. CM6/798/20 – Screen mound 

approved 1 July 2002. 
• Review of Old Planning Permission (ROMP) application code no.  

R6/0698/6 – approved 1 July 2002. 
• Planning Permission code no. CW6/701/44 – Landfilling and 

restoration refused 5 July 2002. 
 

Proposed Development 
4.5 This application seeks to use, on a temporary basis, part of the existing 

clay stockpiling area within the site to import 50,000 tonnes of 
Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) for stockpiling before exporting to brickworks 
for production of Thermalite blocks. The PFA would be transported from 
Ratcliffe-on-Soar Power Station which is due to close and provides an 
opportunity to ensure the ongoing supply of the applicant’s brickworks 
interests by storage of the PFA at the Waingroves Quarry site. 

 
4.6 The 50,000 tonnes of PFA would be imported over a 12-week period. 

The location of the PFA stockpile would be within the established clay 
stocking areas with the clay stockpiles reduced in scale during its use. 
The PFA would then be exported on an ‘as need’ basis to the 
applicant’s Thermalite factories. The PFA would be fully exported by the 
end of 2024 and, as such, temporary permission is sought for this 
period. 

 
Consultations 
 
Local Member 

4.7 Councillor Ashton (Ripley East and Codnor) has been notified and 
raised no comments. 

 
Amber Valley Borough Council - Planning  

4.8 Has been notified, no response has been received. 
 

Amber Valley Borough Council - Environmental Health 
4.9 Has been notified, no response has been received. 
 

Page 5



 

 CONTROLLED

Highway Authority 
4.10 Derbyshire County Council, in its statutory role as Highway Authority, 

has been notified and raise no objections subject to a planning condition 
regarding traffic management being imposed. 

 
Public Rights of Way 

4.11 The Public Rights of Way Team has been consulted and has provided 
the following response: “The proposal would affect footpath no. 56 by 
adding to obstructions that are already on the route, and it would affect 
footpath no. 55 as vehicles would use this as access. This is already 
used by lorries and gets extremely muddy. The applicant has applied for 
a diversion of footpath 56 in conjunction with extinguishment of part of 
footpath 55, but this has not been progressed pending them obtaining 
the appropriate permissions regarding the diversion route. If planning 
permission is to be granted this should be subject to the public path 
orders being concluded prior to any works starting.” 

 
Environment Agency  

4.12 The Environment Agency (EA) has been consulted and has provided 
the following response: 

  
“Advice to LPA/applicant  
This development will likely require an environmental permit under the 
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016, 
Regulation 12.  
https://www.gov.uk/topic/environmental-management/environmental-
permits 
In circumstances where an activity/operation meets certain criteria, an 
exemption from permitting may apply, more information on exempt 
activities can be found here:  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/register-your-waste-exemptions-
environmental-permits  
They may also be a regulatory position statement in place for the 
activity you propose, further information can be found here:  
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/basic-rules-environmental-
permitting-regulatory-positions  
The applicant is advised to contact the national permitting service to 
discuss the issues arising from the permit application process.  
Get advice before you apply for an environmental permit - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk)” 

 
Historic England  

4.13 Historic England (HE) was consulted but provided no response. 
 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/topic/environmental-management/environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/topic/environmental-management/environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/register-your-waste-exemptions-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/register-your-waste-exemptions-environmental-permits
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/basic-rules-environmental-permitting-regulatory-positions
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/basic-rules-environmental-permitting-regulatory-positions
http://www.gov.uk/


 

 CONTROLLED

Natural England  
4.14 Natural England (NE) was consulted, raised no objection and made the 

following comments “Based on the plans submitted, Natural England 
considers that the proposed development will not have significant 
adverse impacts on statutorily protected nature conservation sites or 
landscapes.” 

 
Publicity 

4.15 The application has been publicised by site notice on 30 June 2022 on 
and near to the site, and by notice in the Derbyshire Times. Comments 
were requested by 22 July 2022. 

 
4.16 Three representations have been received raising the following matters: 
 

• clarification of source location of material; 
• clarification of chemical stability of PFA material; 
• clarification whether PFA contains any harmful material; 
• clarification how the PFA will be prevented from blowing about and or 

washing off and into watercourses; 
• clarification of use and timescales; 
• highway considerations regarding entrance and exit and increase 

accident risk; 
• clarification regarding quantity and times for lorries regarding delivery 

and removal of PFA; 
• clarification regarding whether there would be large mobile plant used 

and their hours of operation; 
• job creation information; 
• clarification regarding responsibility for leaving site environmentally 

safe if PFA is left on site long term; 
• concern regarding congestion and air pollution; and 
• concern regarding potential disruption created by noise and 

movement around the site to different stockpiles. 
 
4.17 The matters raised, so far as they are material planning considerations, 

are addressed throughout the report. 
 

Planning Considerations 
  

4.18 Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 
determination must be made in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 defines the Development Plan as the 

Page 7



 

 CONTROLLED

Development Plan Documents (taken as a whole) which have been 
adopted or approved in relation to that area. 

 
Development Plans 

 4.19 The Development Plans comprises saved policies of the: 
 
• Derby and Derbyshire Minerals Local Plan (2002); and 
• Amber Valley Borough Local Plan (2006) 

 
4.20 Other material considerations relevant to the determination of this 

planning application include: 
 

• National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (last amended July 
2021). 

• National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 
• Emerging Derbyshire and Derby Minerals Plan – Proposed Draft Plan 

(December 2021). 
 
4.21 Relevant planning policies from the Derby and Derbyshire Minerals 

Local Plan of 2002 (DDMLP) include: 
 

MP1: The Environmental Impact of Mineral Development. 
MP3: Measures to Reduce Environmental Impact. 
MP4: Interests of Acknowledged Environmental Importance. 
MP5: Transport. 
MP10: Reclamation and After-Use. 
MP12: Mineral Related Development. 
MP24: Secondary and Recycled Materials. 

 
4.22 Relevant policies from the Amber Valley Borough Local Plan of 2006 

(AVBLP) include: 
 

LS1: Sustainability. 
LS3: Design. 
ER11: Design Compatibility. 
TP1: Highway Access. 
TP2: Public Rights of Way. 
EN1: Countryside Safeguarding. 
EN2: Green Belt. 
EN16: Pollution. 
EN17: Pollution Compatibility. 

 
4.23 Relevant paragraphs in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(amended July 2021) include: 

Page 8



 

 CONTROLLED

Chapter 2: Sustainable development. 
Chapter 6: Building a strong, competitive economy.  
Chapter 11: Making effective use of land. 
Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places. 
Chapter 13: Protecting green belt land. 
Chapter 17: Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals. 

 
4.24 The relevant parts of the Planning Practice Guidance include: 
 

• Air Quality 
• Noise 
• Minerals 
• Green Belt 
• Travel Plans, Transport Assessments and Statements 
 
Emerging Derbyshire Minerals Local Plan – Proposed Draft Plan 
(December 2021) 

4.25 The NPPF, at Paragraph 48, states that Mineral Planning Authorities 
(MPAs) may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans 
according to their stage of preparation, the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to the relevant policies and their degree of 
consistency with the NPPF. The more robust the relevant policies are in 
these respects the greater weight they can be given. 

 
4.26 The most recent consultation on the emerging Mineral Local Plan (MLP) 

has taken place early in 2022 when the Council published its Proposed 
Draft Plan. The Plan has been prepared in conformity with the latest 
NPPF. However, it is an informal Regulation 18 consultation and the 
first iteration of the whole Plan in its entirety and therefore is not 
considered to be so far advanced to be ‘material’ in assessing and 
determining planning applications. Having said this, policies and sub-
text of relevance to the proposed development refer to the following: 

 
4.27 Waingroves Quarry is listed as a permitted minerals site on figure 2.2 of 

the emerging PMLP. Permitted reserves are estimated to provide 
approximately 33 years of production. 

 
4.28 Chapter 6 (paragraph 6.1.1) of the emerging MLP sets out the 

sustainability case for using secondary aggregates. Use of secondary 
aggregates reduces the need for primary mineral, helping to conserve 
this finite resource, and prevents re-usable materials from being 
disposed to landfill. The emerging MLP recognises the importance of 
maximising the use of secondary aggregates in order to use resources 
prudently and sustainably. 

Page 9



 

 CONTROLLED

4.29 Paragraph 6.1.16 states that ‘to ensure the supply of recycled and 
secondary aggregates, is to include a plan wide criteria-based policy to 
enable and encourage the development of recycling and secondary 
aggregate production facilities/operations in appropriate locations in 
response to the market’. ‘Appropriate locations’ as set out in paragraph 
6.1.17 include, inter alia, operational quarries. 

 
4.30 Proposed Policy SP3: The Supply of Recycled and Secondary 

Aggregates of the emerging MLP, supports the location of facilities/ 
operations for the production of recycled and secondary aggregates 
within, inter alia, operational quarries (on a temporary basis). 

 
4.31 The key planning considerations for this application are: 
 

• Need for development 
• Location of development 
• Green Belt 
• Amenity and Environmental Impacts 
• Access and Transport. 

 
Need for the Development 

4.32 The applicant recognises the need to secure long term PFA for its 
Thermalite block production facilities. At present, PFA is supplied to the 
applicant’s Thermalite facilities from Ratcliffe-on-Soar Power Station 
which is due to close. This application seeks to maintain the existing 
supply of PFA for ongoing Thermalite production by stockpiling the 
product within Waingroves Quarry, prior to use at the applicant’s 
Thermalite manufacturing facilities. The closure of the Ratcliffe-on-Soar 
Power Station does not provide certainty that the exiting supply of PFA 
will continue post closure.  

 
4.33 The proposed development would enable the stockpiling of PFA, a 

secondary aggregate product, prior to being exported off-site to be used 
in the production of ‘Thermalite’ which is the brand name for Forterra 
blocks. The ability to stockpile PFA at the site safeguards the production 
of Thermalite at the applicant’s facilities by maintaining a steady supply 
of PFA material. There is therefore an economic need for the proposed 
development.    

 
4.34 The NPPF encourages the use of recycled and secondary aggregates 

in construction both to reduce the need for material from primary 
mineral resources and to reduce the amount of waste material that is 
required to be landfilled. The use of secondary aggregates contributes 
towards achieving sustainable development. 

Page 10



 

 CONTROLLED

Location of the Development 
4.35 As referred to above, the location of the development would be within 

an existing operational quarry where the mineral is already authorised to 
be stored. The location within the site is considered appropriate, given 
that it is already the area set aside for quarried material to be stored/ 
stockpiled. This part of the site is screened by either buildings and/or 
trees along with interrupted views of a large plant hire/engineering 
business. Views of this part of the site are available from a nearby 
housing development which has been built since the quarry has been 
operational. Views of the stockpile area would be seen in the context of 
the existing longstanding quarry stockpile area and the existing plant 
hire/engineering business, which occupies land adjacent to the quarry. 
The plant hire/engineering business is extensive and is considered a 
significant visual distraction from the quarry stockpile storage area. 
Overall, I do not consider that the visual impact of the proposed material 
to be stockpiled would be detrimental to any residential amenity. 

 
4.36 Initially, at this location, there would have been public rights of way 

(PRoWs) impacted upon but this is being addressed by an application to 
divert a PRoW.  The diverted route(s) would take the PRoW away from 
the quarry operational area and detailed discussions are taking place 
with the Council’s PRoW officers. Overall, I do not consider that, subject 
to diversion, the PRoW would be adversely affected by the proposed 
material to be stockpiled. 

 
4.37 The site is located in Green Belt which is discussed further below. 
 

Green Belt 
4.38 The NPPF identifies that inappropriate development within Green Belt is 

likely to be harmful and should not be approved except in very special 
circumstances. Paragraph 150 of the NPPF sets out forms of 
development that are not considered to be inappropriate, this list 
includes mineral extraction but not stockpiling or storage.  It is 
considered that the stockpiling of PFA on part of the mineral site should 
not be regarded as being equivalent to mineral extraction, or other than 
inappropriate development within Green Belt, in the context of 
paragraph 150.   As such, it is necessary to demonstrate that ‘very 
special circumstances’ exist to justify such development. Given the 
locational, operational and planning policy context of the proposed 
development, it is considered that ‘very special circumstances’ are 
demonstrated. The applicant has included the following commentary: 

 
“Providing they preserve the openness of the Green Belt, development 
proposals for mineral extraction are not inappropriate in the Green Belt 

Page 11



 

 CONTROLLED

(NPPF para. 150). The site forms part of an existing minerals site and, 
although it does not fall within the scope of mineral extraction, the 
proposals comprise the importation and stockpiling of a secondary 
aggregate material. It is not therefore considered that any further 
assessment is required as the proposal is not inappropriate. However, 
for reasons of clarity and to provide the MPA with the necessary 
information to secure a positive outcome, an assessment of the very 
special circumstances has been undertaken. 
 

  The sustainability characteristics of Thermalite are set out below:  
 

• Thermalite is a sustainable building material produced using up to 
80% recycled content, including PFA. 

• Thermalite can be fully recycled to create new construction materials. 
• Thermalite’s advanced thermal insulation properties help to reduce 

potential CO2 emissions attached to the lifetime of a building. 
 

The proposed development will enable continued production of 
Thermalite at the applicant’s facilities. Due to the sustainability 
characteristics of Thermalite, and the requirement for large quantities of 
PFA in the manufacturing process, the proposed development is 
considered to support the sustainability objectives of the NPPF and the 
Development Plan through minimising waste, reusing a secondary 
aggregate and preserving primary mineral resources. 

 
Forterra employ over 1,800 people across 17 manufacturing facilities in 
the UK. The production of Thermalite is a key business component, and 
service offered, by the applicant. Waingroves Quarry supplies clay for 
use in the construction industry, primarily house building. The proposed 
development will support the applicants’ overall operational 
requirements and does not lead to any adverse environmental impacts. 

 
The essential characteristics of Green Belts, as set out in paragraph 
137 of the NPPF, are their openness and their permanence. The 
proposed development seeks to facilitate the production of Thermalite, a 
sustainable construction material, through providing an area of PFA 
stockpiling within the site of an existing permitted quarry. Waingroves 
Quarry has approximately 33 years of production capacity which 
involves campaign-based extraction of clay and subsequent stockpiling. 
The proposed development would be operated on a temporary basis. 
Therefore, it is not considered that the proposals will have any adverse 
impact upon the permanence of the Green Belt. 

 

Page 12



 

 CONTROLLED

Mineral extraction and stockpiling have taken place at Waingroves 
Quarry since 1949. The site forms the south-eastern extent of the 
existing approved clay stockpiling area. Given the existing approved 
operations at Waingroves Quarry, it is not considered that the proposed 
development will have any adverse impact upon the openness of the 
Green Belt in this location.” 
 

4.39 PFA is generated by burning coal in power stations and can be used as 
a building aggregate. It is classed as a secondary aggregate and can 
reduce CO2 emissions, as it reduces the amount of clinker used in 
cement and concrete. Generally, PFA is a versatile material and has 
been used in a wide range of construction related processes. It has 
uses as a lightweight fill, as a cement additive, as a mixer blended 
concrete additive, as a component in lightweight blocks and as a 
grouting material are well known. 

 
4.40 The PFA material is a waste by-product of the electricity manufacturing 

industry that can be used as an aggregate in block manufacturing. The 
applicant states that it is considered to be a secondary aggregate 
material and as such, should be considered a mineral. The use of 
secondary aggregates has environmental and economic benefits, it 
helps to reduce the amount of primary minerals that need to be 
extracted, minimises waste and encourages the efficient use of 
minerals. There are significant sustainability benefits from the use of 
secondary aggregates, as the applicant has highlighted in its use in the 
manufacture of Thermalite blocks. Therefore, despite its technical 
inappropriateness in the Green Belt with regard to the NPPF, I am 
satisfied that very special circumstances do exist to justify the grant of 
planning permission in this case.  Furthermore, I see little difference in 
the storage of the PFA at the quarry compared to the storage of any 
other quarried material. As such, I do not consider that there would be 
any harm to the openness of the Green Belt by such temporary storage. 
AVBLP saved Policy EN2, which predates the NPPF, is also against 
inappropriate development in the Green Belt. The types of development 
it specifies as being appropriate for the Green Belt do not include any 
for minerals or waste development but do include “essential facilities for 
outdoor sport and outdoor recreation, cemeteries and other land uses 
which would preserve the openness of the Green Belt and not conflict 
with the purposes of including land within the Green Belt”. I consider the 
land use proposed under this application is within the scope of such 
‘other land uses’, so that it would not conflict with this policy.  

 
4.41 Overall, I consider that the location of the temporary storage of PFA 

material at the stockpiling area of the quarry to be acceptable in the 

Page 13



 

 CONTROLLED

context of chapter 13 of the NPPF and that it accords with policies 
MP12 and MP24 of DDMLP and AVBLP policy EN2. 

 
Amenity and Environmental Impacts 

4.42 The 50,000 tonnes of PFA would be imported from Ratcliffe-on-Soar 
over a 12-week period. The location of the PFA stockpile would be 
within the established clay stocking areas with the clay stockpiles 
reduced in scale during its use. The PFA would then be exported on an 
‘as need’ basis to the applicant’s Thermalite factories. The PFA would 
be fully exported by the end of 2024 and, as such, temporary 
permission is sought for this period. Any impacts would therefore be 
temporary. 

 
4.43 National Planning Policy and the Development Plan(s) seek to ensure 

that sustainable development is achieved. The NPPF (2021) and saved 
Policy LS1 of the AVBLP (2006), set out a presumption in favour of 
sustainable development. Policies MP1 and MP3 of the DDMLP (2002) 
and Policy EN16 of AVBLP (2006) seek to ensure that development 
proposals do not give rise to any unacceptable environmental impacts, 
and that mitigation measures are established, where necessary, to 
protect and enhance the environment. 

 
4.44 The quarry operates under existing environmental control conditions 

including a dust monitoring plan, noise limits, vehicle silencers and 
hours of operation. I am not aware of any amenity issues from quarrying 
activity. Having said that, it is considered appropriate that, as a 
standalone development, there are noise, dust and operating hours 
planning conditions to be considered should the application be 
approved. Due to the nature of the development and the existing use of 
the site, the proposal, subject to planning conditions, is not considered 
likely to result in any material adverse impacts upon the environment. 

 
4.45 The proposed development would be set within a long-established 

setting heavily influenced by industrial buildings and land uses, 
including the former brickworks, the historic mining sites and the extant 
excavation of clay for brick making. The former brickworks adjacent to 
the north have been demolished and the yard, used by Collins 
Earthworks, to store and maintain HGVs and heavy construction plant. 
The supporting transport statement for the application, currently with 
Amber Valley Borough Council, on the adjacent yard for a large portal 
framed building to store and maintain these vehicles states that they 
have 50 HGV trips per day. 

 

Page 14



 

 CONTROLLED

4.46 It is considered that there would be no valued landscape elements or 
features lost as a result of the proposal. Such elements that exist 
around the borders of the site, including native trees and hedgerows 
would be retained. 

 
4.47 The combination of existing built forms, landform and vegetation 

provides enclosure, establishes a degree of complexity and the adjacent 
yard is associated with busy movements. In combination, this would 
ensure that the proposed storage of the PFA, at the existing designated 
stockpiling area for the quarried clay, would be well screened and would 
not appear out of context. 

 
4.48 It is considered the overall character of the existing industrial setting 

would be unchanged as a result of the proposals. 
 
4.49 The NPPF and saved Policy LS1 of the AVBLP, set out a presumption 

in favour of sustainable development. Policies MP1 and MP3 of the 
DDMLP and Policy EN16 of the AVBLP is supportive, subject to 
mitigation measures relating to environmental impacts. In this case the 
main quarry permission has adequate dust and noise controls in place. 
However, it is prudent to attach planning conditions controlling such in 
any decision notice that may be issued. 

 
4.50 Overall, it is considered that amenity and environmental controls are 

capable of being controlled by planning conditions attached to a 
decision notice if forthcoming. Such control would enable the proposed 
development to be in compliance with the above mentioned policies in 
the AVBLP and DDMLP development plans. 

 
Access and Transport 

4.51 Policy MP5 of the DDMLP and Policy TP1 of the AVBLP seek to ensure 
that development proposals can demonstrate adequate access, do not 
generate unacceptable levels of traffic on the local highway network and 
ensure road safety is maintained. The proposed development would 
take place using the existing site access which is suitable for HGV 
movements. The proposal would result in a small and temporary 
increase of HGV movements to/from the site which can be 
accommodated on the local highway network and are not considered to 
give rise to any adverse impacts upon road safety. 

 
4.52 The Highway Authority initially sought additional information relating to 

transport figures and the nature of the PFA to be stored. Following 
further consideration by the Highway Authority, it is now satisfied the 

Page 15



 

 CONTROLLED

proposed development is acceptable, subject to a planning condition, 
and raises no objection. 

 
4.53 It is noted that the quarry is not working at its capacity and is not 

expected to do so in the near future. The applicant states the 
importation would be completed at a rate of no greater than 4,000 
tonnes per week – 16 HGVs per day. For the 12-13 week period of 
importation, there would be a maximum of 27 HGVs per day. Once 
stockpiling is completed, the applicant states that PFA export would be 
at a rate of 2 HGVs per working day, with operations ceasing at the end 
of 2024. Historically, the quarry has exported up to 300,000 tonnes of 
clay per annum equating to approximately 46 HGVs per day. The site 
currently supplies up to 120,000 tonnes of clay to its brickworks at 
Kirton and Desford at 10 HGVs per day. The transport implications 
would be of a temporary nature for importation and on a campaign basis 
when needed to be removed from site. The transport implications of 
importing and exporting the material are not considered excessive and 
would be in accordance with Policy MP5 of the DDMLP and Policy TP1 
of the AVBLP. 

 
Representations 

4.54 The representations raised requested clarification, which has been 
provided by the applicant, and shared with the person making the 
representations. This person has not made any further comments other 
than to pass on comments to the Parish Council, which has chosen not 
to raise any representations regarding the proposed development. I am 
satisfied that the clarification information provided by the applicant does 
not raise any issues for the determination of this application.   The 
representations also expressed concerns about congestion, air 
pollution, disruption caused by noise and movement around the site by 
plant are referred to above, and these impacts in any event are 
considered to be controllable sufficiently via planning conditions or 
through other regulatory bodies, such as the Environment Agency. 

 
4.55 Therefore, I do not consider that the concerns raised support a 

sustainable reason for refusal and am satisfied that the representations 
made have been appropriately addressed by the applicant. 

 
Conclusion 

4.56 The proposed development is considered compatible with the approved 
use of the site for mineral extraction and stockpiling, in accordance with 
Policy EN17 of AVBLP (2006). 

 

Page 16



 

 CONTROLLED

4.57 Policy MP24 of the DDMLP (2002) and proposed Policy SP3 of the 
emerging MLP support the production of secondary aggregates 
providing there are no unacceptable environmental damages. Use of 
secondary aggregates for construction materials is supported by the 
NPPF due to the reduced need for primary mineral sources and a 
reduced amount of waste material that is required to be landfilled. 

 
4.58 Transport implications have raised no objection by the Highway 

Authority and considered to be in accordance with Policy MP5 of the 
DDMLP and TP1 of the AVBLP. 

 
4.59 The issues raised in the representations received have been addressed 

by the applicant and/or are capable of control via planning conditions. 
As such the application is recommended for approval subject to 
planning conditions. 

 
5. Implications 
 
5.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
6. Background Papers File No. 6.835.10 
 
6.1 Application documents received from Heaton Planning, acting as Agent 

for Forterra Building Products Ltd. 
 
Documents 
• Application form and certificates; 
• Planning Statement; 
• Geotechnical Assessment; 
• Validation checklist; 
• Public Right of Way Diversion Application; and 
• Cross-Sections and Ground Levels (Existing and Proposed) 

Statement. 
 

6.2 Plans 
• Drawing no. FOR-012-M-001 entitled: Site Location Plan dated May 

2022; 
• Drawing no. FOR-012-M-002 entitled PFA Stockpiling Areas May 

2022; 
• Drawing no. W187/ROW entitled:  Public Rights of Way Summary 

dated March 2016; 

Page 17



 

 CONTROLLED

• Drawing entitled: January 2019 Survey – Cross Section Location 
(PFA Zone); and 

• Drawing entitled:  Survey Generated Cross Section. 
 
6.3 Letters 

• From the Environment Agency dated 28 June 2022. 
• From Natural England dated 24 June 2022.  

 
6.4 Emails 

• From County Highway Authority dated 11 July 2022 and 27 
September 2022.  

• County Conservation, Heritage and Design dated 6 July 2022 and 7 
July 2022.  

• PRoW dated 5 July 2022. 
• Lead Local Flood Authority dated 13 July 2022. 

 
7. Appendices 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 - Implications. 
 
7.2 Appendix 2 – Site Plan. 
 
8. Recommendation 
 
8.1 That the Committee resolves to grant planning permission subject to 

conditions substantially as follows:  
 

Conditions 
 

Commencement  
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiry of 3 

years from the date of this permission. Written notification of the date of 
commencement of development shall be sent to the Mineral Planning 
Authority within seven days of such commencement.  

 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended). 

 
2) A copy of this permission shall be kept available for inspection at the 

site offices during the prescribed working hours for the duration of the 
development. 

 

Page 18



 

 CONTROLLED

Reason: To ensure that the site operators are fully aware of the 
requirements of these conditions throughout the period of development. 

 
Duration of Importation  

3) Importation of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) under this permission shall 
cease no later than the date which is four months from the date of 
commencement of development. 

 
Reason: To minimise the impact on local amenity. 
 
Plans and Documents 

4) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
plans and documents:  

 
Documents  
• Application form and certificates dated 13 May 2022; 
• Planning Statement prepared by Heatons Planning dated May 2022; 
• Geotechnical Assessment prepared by GWP consultants LLP dated 

January 2021; and 
• Cross-Sections and Ground Levels (Existing and Proposed) 

Statement. 
 
Plans 
• Drawing no. FOR-012-M-001 entitled Site Location Plan dated May 

2022; 
• Drawing no. FOR-012-M-002 entitled PFA Stockpiling Areas May 

2022; 
• Drawing no. W187/ROW entitled Public Rights of Way Summary 

dated March 2016; 
• Drawing entitled January 2019 Survey – Cross Section Location (PFA 

Zone); and 
• Drawing entitled Survey Generated Cross Section. 

 
Except so far as any contents of the documents and plans listed above 
are incompatible with the requirements of the conditions specified 
below.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance 
with the details in the submitted planning application. 

 
Hours of Operation and Vehicle Entry  

5) With the exception of necessary works arising from emergency 
situations: 

Page 19



 

 CONTROLLED

(i) No operations in the site (including movement of waste, recyclable 
materials, and processed materials, inert waste and equipment and 
deliveries from vehicles) shall take place other than between the 
following hours:  
 
0800 hours – 1800 hours Mondays – Fridays,  
0800 hours – 1300 hours on Saturdays, and 
No operations at any time on Sundays and Bank/public holidays.  

 
(ii) No vehicles shall enter or leave the site at any time on Sundays and 

Bank/public holidays or at any time before 0730 hours on Mondays 
to Saturdays. 

 
(iii) The engine of any vehicles entering the site between 0730 hours 

and 0800 hours must be turned off immediately following entry to the 
site and no tipping activities or deliveries from any vehicle shall start 
before 0800 hours. 

 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the area. 
 

6) Vehicular access to and from the site shall be via the current Waingroves 
Brickworks entrance on Whiteley Road. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
Scope of Development 

7) Only the PFA material identified in the application, and no other waste, 
recyclable materials or inert construction and demolition waste, shall be 
imported to the site.  

 
Reason: To define the scope of the development in the interests of 
safeguarding the amenity of neighbouring occupiers/residents and for 
monitoring purposes. 

 
Import Records  

 
9) The operator shall keep accurate records of the amount of PFA arriving 

at the site and made available for inspection by the Mineral Planning 
Authority upon request.  

 
Reason: In order to monitor compliance with the authorised waste input 
tonnage. 

 
 

Page 20



 

 CONTROLLED

Highways 
10) No development shall take place until a Temporary Traffic Management 

Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Mineral 
Planning Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout 
the import and removal of material from site. The plan shall provide for: 

 
• Routes for HGV traffic; 
• Hours of operation; 
• Method of prevention of debris being carried onto the highway; 
• Parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
• Pedestrian and cyclist protection;  
• Any proposed temporary traffic restrictions; 
• Arrangements for turning vehicles; and 
• Temporary signage. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of neighbouring 
occupiers/residents, highway safety and for the avoidance of any 
unacceptable impacts on the highway network. 

 
11) All loaded vehicles entering or leaving the site shall be fully contained, 

netted or sheeted. 
 

Reason: To minimise dust and spillage in the interests of amenity and 
highway safety. 

 
Noise 

12) Prior to commencement of development, a noise management plan 
(NMP) to minimise noise emissions, shall be submitted for the written 
approval of the Mineral Planning Authority. The NMP shall include 
details of all noise sensitive properties (residential and commercial), 
noise suppression measures and procedures in place in the event of 
complaints from the development. The NMP shall be implemented as 
approved with the approved noise suppression measures being retained 
for the duration of the development hereby permitted. 

 
Reason: To reduce the impacts of noise disturbance from the 
development on the local environment. 
 

13) All plant and machinery on the site shall be maintained in accordance 
with the manufacturer’s recommendations to maintain optimum 
performance and reduce noise. 

 

Page 21



 

 CONTROLLED

Reason: To control the impact of noise generated by the development 
in the interests of amenity of the area. 

 
Dust 

14) Prior to commencement of development a dust scheme, including a 
dust management plan (DMP) to minimise dust emissions, shall be 
submitted for the written approval of the Mineral Planning Authority. The 
scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures and the 
methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development. 
The scheme shall then be implemented as approved with the approved 
dust suppression measures being retained and for the duration of the 
development hereby permitted and removal of PFA from the site. 

 
Reason: To reduce the impacts of dust disturbance from the Site on the 
local environment. 
 

15) No mud or debris from this development shall be deposited on the 
public highway. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to help prevent mud and 
dust from being carried out onto the highway.  

 
  

 
Chris Henning 

Executive Director - Place 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 CONTROLLED

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 The correct fee of £13,806 has been received. 
 
Legal 
 
2.1 I do not consider that there would be any disproportionate impacts on 

anyone's human rights under the European Convention on Human 
Rights as a result of this permission being granted subject to the 
conditions referred to in the report. 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None. 
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None. 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 NA. 
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 None. 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 Environmental and Health 

As indicated in the report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



 

 CONTROLLED

Appendix 2 
Site Plan 
 

 

Page 24



1 

  

   
 

Agenda Item 
FOR PUBLICATION 

 
DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
REGULATORY - PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 
31 October 2022 

 
Report of the Director of Legal and Democratic Services 

 
Commons Act 2006 

 
Application to register land known as Norbriggs Field, Woodthorpe, 

Derbyshire as a town or village green (VG128) 
 

 
 
1. Divisions Affected 
 
1.1 Parish of Staveley Parish. 
 
2. Key Decision 
 
2.1 This is not a Key Decision. 
 
3. Purpose  
 
3.1 To ask the Committee to determine an application made pursuant to 

section 15 of the Commons Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) to register land 
known as Norbriggs Field, Woodthorpe (“the Application Land”) as a town 
or village green (TVG).  

 
4. Information and Analysis 
 
4.1 The Director of Legal Services previously authorised the appointment of 

an Independent Inspector to make recommendations to the Council as to 
the determination of applications to register land owned by public 
authorities as TVG.   

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



2 

  

4.2 Miss Annabel Graham Paul of Counsel was appointed as Inspector on 
08 June 2020. 

 
4.3 Miss Annabel Graham Paul’s report to the Council is at Appendix 3 and 

sets out her conclusions in relation to statutory incompatibility with regard 
to land which is owned by public bodies and that land being registered as 
a TVG.   

 
4.4 The application to register the Application Land was made by local 

resident, Sarah Mettam, and the relevant date of the application was 25th 
April 2012.  Objections to the application were received from the 

Norbriggs Primary School and Derbyshire County Council as the 
landowner. 

 
4.5 The application was made pursuant to section 15 of the 2006 Act with the 

relevant 20-year period being from April 1992 to April 2012.  
 
4.6 The headteacher of Norbriggs school, representing the Governing Body, 

submitted a statement of objection dated 27 July 2012 objecting to the 
application on the following grounds: 

 

• The Application Land is owned by Derbyshire County Council and it’s use 
is delegated to the school 

• The school pays for maintenance of the Application Land, which includes 
grounds maintenance, grass cutting and fencing including fencing off the 
stream on the property 

• The school has granted one of the parents’ permission to run Saturday 
morning football for the local children 

• The school uses the hard play area daily and the lower portion of the field 
is used in summer months for athletics – noting the area is on a floodplain 
so not always available 

• The upper portion of the field has a footpath along its southern boundary 
used regularly by dog walkers some of which allow their dogs to defecate 
on the field cause a health and safety issues for the school 

• School staff have frequently spoken to members of the public straying off 
the footpath with dogs during school hours. Some children are afraid of 
dogs, but it is also a safeguarding issue as the school has a duty of care 
to protect the children from non-authorised person 

• The Applicant recognises the school rights to the Application Land as has 
paid to let the land for a ‘Brass on the Grass’ event (15 July 2012) which 
was licenced by Derbyshire County Council 

• The headteacher often works at the school from early morning till early 
evening and at weekends and has never been aware of any members of 
the community making use of the Application Land other than by 

Page 26



3 

  

agreement. The school has turned a ‘blind eye’ to teenagers using the 
hard play area after school hours to play football; initially the facility was 
locked up but the fencing was broken down to gain access and the 
Governors decided to leave the facility unlocked to prevent further 
damage or potential accidents if anyone attempted to climb the 2.5 metre 
fence. 

 
4.7 Derbyshire County Council (DCC) submitted a statement of objection 
dated 21 September 2012 objecting to the application on the following grounds: 
 

• DCC is the owner of the Application Land 

• The Application Land was purchased as part of a larger area for 
education purposes through conveyances dated 16 September 1963, 16 
September 1963 and 31 March 1971 

• The whole site has been used and occupied by DCC for educational 
purposes at all times since purchased and is currently the site of 
Norbriggs Primary School. There can be no reason to draw any 
distinction between the Application Land and the rest of the site 

• DCC usage of the Application Land has been principally during school 
hours but there has also been use outside school hours on occasions 
over the years 

• DCC accepts some use of the Application Land by the public has been 
tolerated and that some of that use may fall within the definition of lawful 
sports and pastimes. Such use is tolerated as long as it does not interfere 
with its own use or cause damage to the site. The only way to realistically 
prevent such use would be to erect security fencing which would be 
prohibitively expensive but also not something DCC would wish to do 
unless vandalism or anti-social behaviour became a real issue 

• In determining whether use of the Application Land for lawful sports and 
pastimes has been as of right, the situation is viewed form the position of 
a reasonable landowner. The appropriate consideration being whether 
use by the public was such that it would have appeared to a reasonable 
landowner that they were asserting a right to use the land. Given that the 
overwhelming use of the Application Land has been outside school hours 
and has not interfered with any use which DCC wished to make of it either 
during or outside school hours, there could be no cause for a reasonable 
landowner to form the view that the public were asserting aright to the 
site or any part of it 

• Preliminary Conclusion – The Application does not establish the 
matters necessary for the registration of the Application Land as a TVG 
within the definition contained in section 15(s2) of the Commons Act 2006 
as, for the reasons stated above, use of the Application Land has not 
been as of right and therefore DCC would contend that the Application is 
fundamentally flawed and should be rejected. 

Page 27



4 

  

 
4.8 Following a full meeting of the governing body, the headteacher of 

Norbriggs School submitted a letter dated 25 February 2013, stating that 
it was unanimously agreed that the school would rely on the 
representation made by DCC with regard to objecting to the Application. 

 
4.9 The applicant was given the opportunity to respond to the objections and 

submitted their response in a letter dated 09 November 2012 stating: 
 

• Neither objection can properly be considered to be objections as the 
school concede that the field is used for sports and pastimes by members 
of the local community - the times of such use is irrelevant. The Local 
Authority raises no evidence to contradict the basis of the application and 
cite no authority for their approach which can properly be answered. 
Nevertheless I would make the following representations: 

• Both organisations have vested interests in the land. Nobody else has 
raised any objection, and especially no local people nor other members 
of the community associated with the school or the locality. 

 
RE Statement in objection on behalf of Derbyshire County Council: 
 

• Derbyshire County Council state that they acquired part of the land in 
1963 and part of the land in 1971. It is not clear that these two 
conveyances either refer in part or in whole to the total land being claimed 
as a Village Green. The land that the actual school is built on being 
separated by a security fence and a substantial hedge, the effect of which 
is to separate the school buildings and playing areas from the area 
claimed as the village green area. The separation of the two sites is clear 
on OS maps and separately labelled as “sch” and “playing field”. 
Comparably, Netherthorpe school and playing field are not separated on 
maps. 

• “To address the statement by the local authority as to “educational use” I 
would seek to make reference to the 2006 Local Plan. The field is one of 
only three sites coloured pink on the 2006 Local Plan map governed by 
policy CMT1. All open spaces in established educational use in the 
Borough (such as enclosed playing fields at Netherthorpe) are coloured 
green to match open countryside. Green indicates policy protection for 
open spaces to support established land uses. Pink means safeguarding 
land from development that might jeopardise future uses not yet 
established.” 

• “As Education Authority, DCC had a special interest in policy CMT1 and 
would have objected to any inaccuracy in the Plan map. DCC had greater 
opportunity to object to any part of the Local Plan in 2006 than any 
member of the public and yet this crucial differentiation in policy survived 
all reasonable scrutiny and test. The conclusion is inescapable. DCC had 

Page 28



5 

  

not in 2006 begun to use the field in the exclusive way they now suggest 
and therefore made no claim at that time. Ten years have not passed in 
the mean-time and therefore DCC's allegation amounts to a concession 
that intermittent unauthorised use has been made by the school. DCC 
objections to the designation of the land as village green should be 
dismissed accordingly.” 

• “Furthermore, and in my submission fatal to DCC's objection, Policy 
CMT1 is conversely irrelevant to the merits of the Village Green 
application. Planning permission neither creates nor extinguishes public 
easements, nor is continued public use of the Green in the manner it has 
been used from time immemorial, development that the Local Planning 
Authority is entitled control.” 

• “Further, use of the land by local people has been continuous for in 
excess of 20 years, including the public footpath” (it should be noted that 
there is no definitive FP on the Application Land) “running across the land 
and linking with both Netherthorpe and the North Bridge on the A619. 
This usage pre-dates 1963 and such use was “as of right” at that time 
and has continued uninterrupted since. This is evidenced in the 
statements and questionnaires attached to the application, in particular 
numbers 4 and 5 in the bundle, Mrs Lord and CM Watts who state that 
local usage has continued since the late 1960’s early 70’s. Of particular 
note in their questionnaires is the statement that a sign had been present 
at the entrance, declaring the field to be a “playing field”.” 

• The whole of the site has not at all times continuously or even regularly 
been used by Norbriggs School for Educational Purposes; this is 
evidenced both by the hedge and fence separating the School from the 
site. Questionnaire 2 in particular is of interest as whilst the makers of 
that statement call the field the “school field” they provide detail as to the 
use of the field by the school, namely identifying the hard courts as used 
daily, and part of the field used for sports seasonally. It is conceded that 
an access through the hedge has been made to the hard games court 
which is used by the school. Nevertheless this forms a very small section 
of the plot used by the school, the remainder being used by the wider 
community. 

• There is a clear notice at the school entrance warning people not to 
trespass on school property and quoting the relevant Act; clearly 
delineated by security fencing and gates. There is no such notice for the 
village green site which confirms that the County Council and the School 
have continuously regarded the actual school site as different in nature 
from the village green site. 

• The Council 'accepts that some use by members of the public has been 
tolerated outside school hours’ 

• Time of use does not feature in the statutory requirements for an 
application for village green status to succeed. Nevertheless I will 
address the point. Use is made by members of the public during school 

Page 29



6 

  

hours on a daily basis. The standard form questionnaire does not ask for 
times of use. The only evidence of times of use comes from the head 
teacher who cannot possibly continuously observe the field throughout 
the school day. Therefore the local authority cannot state that the 
“overwhelming use of the site has been out of school hours”. Such use 
during school hours has continued and residents report knowledge of this 
by school staff, in particular the caretaker who greets locals known to him. 

• Secondly 'tolerated' confirms that no attempts have been made to restrict 
the public's right to use the field throughout the ownership by the 
Derbyshire County Council. 

• The County Council agrees that some of the use would fall within the 
definition of lawful sports and pastimes. I would state that all of the use is 
lawful and the usage falling within 'sports and pastimes' is significant. 

• Derbyshire County Council as a reasonable landowner must come to the 
conclusion that the local people have demonstrated a right to use the 
land; evidenced by the documents contained in the application and 
conceded by the local authority and school. 

• Conclusion: -The application establishes the matters necessary for the 
registration of the site as a town or village green within the definition 
contained in section 15(2) of the Commons Act 2006. 

 
RE Statement in objection from Norbriggs Primary School by the head 
teacher, an officer of the school representing the Board of Governors. 

 
“The head teacher makes a number of points: 
 

• ‘All of the area shown and marked on map A of the application is owned 
by Derbyshire County Council and its use is delegated to us as a school' 
 
The school itself is contained within a perimeter surrounded by a fence 
or a tall hedge plus a line of trees. Again, this is further enforced by a 
notice warning trespassers of possible prosecution which does not apply 
to the field in question. It is not doubted that the area of the school itself 
(as defined above) is delegated to the Board of Governors as a school 
however the fact that throughout the existence of the school the area in 
question has been used as a village green by local residents indicates 
that although the County Council own the land, they have accepted use 
by villagers and other general public without hindrance for over 36 years. 
This indicates an acceptance of the village green status. The correct 
approach appears to be that Derbyshire County Council allows the school 
to use the field for appropriate purposes, beneficial to the children. This 
benefits all concerned. 
 

• 'The school pays for the maintenance of the whole area as shown and 
marked on map A of the application. This includes ground maintenance, 

Page 30



7 

  

grass cutting and the fencing of a stream which runs through the 
property'. 
 
Derbyshire County Council owns the land and thus has responsibility for 
it. The land which constitutes the village green requires little maintenance 
and if the owners wish to cut the grass then that is a matter for them. That 
this is then charged to the school is a matter between the School and the 
County Council. It is wholly irrelevant to the question of village green 
status. The hedges/fences which are regularly maintained are those 
which form the border between the school itself and the village green 
area. That these hedges and fences are regularly maintained and in 
existence indicates that the school regards the school (buildings and play 
area) as separate from the village green area (and therefore different). 
This difference has been maintained for in excess of 20 years. It should 
be noted that neither the school nor Derbyshire County Council takes full 
responsibility for maintenance of the Norbriggs Field as no attempt is 
made to deal with any litter or dog fouling which may accumulate there, 
for instance. The last litter and dog excrement clearing was performed by 
the Woodthorpe Village Community Group. A number of local residents 
also collect litter, particularly from around the hard courts during 
weekends and school holidays. 

 

• ‘With our permission, one of the parents runs a Saturday football event 
for the children of Norbriggs and Woodthorpe Schools' 
 
This is clearly not a completely independent event as it involves 
Norbriggs School and Norbriggs pupils. It involves pupils from a number 
of schools, not exclusively Norbriggs and Woodthorpe and is hugely 
beneficial to those children. Because Norbriggs School is party to the 
event the statement 'with our permission’ is not valid reason for objection. 
 

• ‘The school makes daily use of the hard play area of the land with the 
lower portion of the field being used in the summer months for athletics 
activities (it should be noted that this area is frequently too waterlogged 
to be useful as it is a flood plain)’ 

 
Use is made of the games court. However local residents have noted very 
infrequent use of the field by the children at the school. Even if use were 
made, this would still be allowable with the land as a village green. 
Therefore this cannot be regarded as a reasonable objection. It is 
conceded that the area is prone to flooding, in particular at the extreme 
west area. 
 

• 'The upper part of the land in question is used occasionally by the school. 
This is largely due to the fact that the southern boundary has a public 

Page 31



8 

  

footpath which is used regularly by dog-walkers. Whilst some owners 
respond to their responsibilities with regards to the animal's toileting not 
all do and the resulting dog faeces makes it a real Health and Safety issue 
for us especially when owners allow their dogs off lead to defecate at will' 
If the upper part of the field has been used occasionally by the school 
then this has not been witnessed by local residents. This would be 
irrelevant as an objection as the School would still be able to make use 
of the field as a village green. Furthermore, the recognition of the field as 
a village green may promote respect for it by the more irresponsible users 
of it currently. This would be promoted by the community group. There is 
certainly a public footpath. This links with a stile in the Western hedge 
some significant distance from the Southern boundary. The existence of 
the stile in this location is consistent with the public footpath running 
through the middle of the field - not along its border. Likewise the 
corresponding stile on Norbriggs Road is near the main school entrance 
- not on the Southern border, again indicating that the footpath runs 
centrally through the field there. Some dog owners play 'fetch' with their 
dogs. That the dog is not on a leash does not mean that the dog is not 
under control and the School should not make this assertion. There are, 
and always will be, a few irresponsible dog owners in the same way that 
are there are some irresponsible parents, some irresponsible drivers, etc. 
This is a society problem and is irrelevant to Norbriggs Field being a 
village green. 
 

• 'Staff have frequently spoken to members of the community who have 
strayed off the footpath with their dogs whilst the school has been in 
session. Some children are afraid of dogs, but we have a duty of care to 
protect our children from non-authorised persons on site, this is a 
safeguarding matter' 
 
A footpath runs across the middle of the village green as is evidenced by 
the stiles giving entrance and egress. The public use both the footpath as 
a footpath and the village green as a whole as a village green. Therefore 
to 'stray off it' and for that to be visible to an observer is an unreasonable 
assertion as both usages apply - the school has already admitted that the 
public use the field as a whole. It is disputed that staff 'have frequently 
spoken to members of the community'. No-one locally has reported being 
spoken to by staff or other officials of the school. Dogs are being 
exercised whilst football coaching is taking place and there have been no 
reported problems. Sometimes those involved with the football have 
brought their own dogs. The football activity takes place right across the 
line of the public footpath - dog owners and other village-green users are 
careful to circumnavigate the football activity so as not to interfere with 
the event. The school has a duty of care to protect children from non-
authorised persons on site and to this end there is a notice for the school 

Page 32



9 

  

grounds itself (not the village green area) warning of prosecution for 
trespass. Crossing the village green is a public footpath available to all 
citizens. That all citizens have access to the Norbriggs field poses no 
more risk than that presented by the public road (Norbriggs Road) which 
runs past the school entrance and is also a public right of way. Primary 
school children are supervised by appropriate adults whether in secure 
school grounds or engaging in activities outside school grounds. This 
provides the safeguards. The safeguarding reason stated here is 
irrelevant to the question of the field being a village green. 
 

• 'The applicant does recognise that we have rights to the land in question, 
as she recently paid for a letting for the use of the land for a 'Brass on the 
grass' event (15th. July 2012). A licence was issued for this event by 
Jeremy Goacher who acted as agent for Derbyshire County Council. A 
representative of the group had to visit the school to be given a key to the 
field gate which she returned at the agreed time. She was also made fully 
aware of the faeces problem and the health and safety issues of the 
stream running through the area' 
 
The applicant does not recognise that 'we have rights to the land in 
question’. The applicant did not pay for 'a letting'. The Brass on the Grass 
event was organised by a separate group of villagers who were 
completely taken by surprise by the insistence of the school of a payment 
or licence. To allow the event to go ahead (the key to the gate was 
needed), and a force majeure situation having been created by the 
school, this group obtained a licence from the Local Authority. This is 
without prejudice to this application. The 'Brass on the Grass' event 
carries no weight in opposition to the application for village green status. 
Rather, it reinforces it. The site was used with the utmost care and 
respect, being cleared of litter and dog faeces beforehand, and inspected 
afterwards. It was left in a better state after the event than before. With 
regards to the stream, this does not so much run 'through the area' being 
mainly in the school itself area and at the boundary of Norbriggs Field. 
The stream has its source in Woodthorpe village near the watershed of 
Woodthorpe Road and drains a limited area. Consequently it is neither 
deep, wide nor fast flowing. Derbyshire County Council has created a 
banking and a tall (and unsightly) fence protects this stream from access 
by anyone in the Norbriggs field area. This stream presents a very low 
risk to users of Norbriggs Field especially because it is fenced off and, as 
opposed to other water courses, including canals which have no fencing, 
the danger is very small. 
 

• ‘I regularly work from early morning until early evening in school and am 
often in school at weekends. I have never been aware of any members 
of the community making use of this area of land, other than that which 

Page 33



10 

  

has been agreed with us. We have, however, turned a 'blind eye' to 
teenagers making use of the hard play area after hours, to play football, 
initially we had locked the facility up, but they broke the fencing down to 
gain access. Governors therefore decided to leave the facility unlocked 
both to prevent further damage and potential accidents as they attempted 
to climb a 2.5 metre (approx) fence' 
 

• The following points need to be made:- 
 
The school buildings are behind a high hedge and it would be impossible 
to monitor activity on the field from the school buildings. The head 
teacher’s office is not well placed as an observation point even without 
the hedges and trees preventing observation. Members of the community 
have most certainly made use of the land during school hours Residents 
have been observed by school maintenance staff when using the field - 
this is in school time and no challenge has ever been made. 
 
Dog exercising takes place at all times of day including as early as 6.00 
a.m. in summer so staff would not see this. Evening use is frequent, as 
stated in the evidence submitted, for all manner of recreational purposes, 
often until it gets dark. A survey shows that Woodthorpe villagers enjoy 
high employment rates thus use would be very much more frequent when 
they are not at work (and the school is not operating). 
 
I strongly dispute the assertion that this does not occur as it occurs both 
whilst staff are present on the school site and when they are not; that they 
may not have witnessed it bears no evidential weight at all. Weekend 
attendance by staff appears to be very exceptional - staff did not know 
whether the 'Brass on the Grass' event had taken place and certainly took 
no interest in monitoring this event on the day. Staff would not be a 
reliable monitor for those parts of the day when local people can actually 
use the field. 
 
Furthermore, due to the extensive school holidays, staff are not around 
sufficiently to realistically comment on usage, 
 
The idea that local residents do not use the land unless they ask 
permission first is completely rejected (where does the litter come from if 
they are not there?). Many local people have stated that they have never 
sought permission or been challenged. Not one villager has complained 
of any challenge whatsoever. 
 
That the School has allowed 'teenagers' to use the hard play area is 
further acknowledgement that the school has accepted that Norbriggs 
field is a local common ground. 

Page 34



11 

  

 

• The objections raised by the school are rejected excepting those which 
actually support Norbriggs Field being a village green. 
 
 

4.10 In light of the Supreme Court judgment in Lancashire County Council v 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs [2019] 
UKSC 58 (Lancashire) where a decision was reached that land owned by 
a public authority for statutory purposes was incompatible with 
registration as a TVG, the landowners were written to and given the 
opportunity to make further submissions in relation to any perceived 
statutory incompatibility. The landowner has made submissions stating 
that the land is held for educational purposes and as evidence of such 
has provided a copy of a land searches record from Staveley Urban 
District Council, dated 11 March 1971 (Appendix 4) which specifies the 
land is designated as Primary School. It is therefore held for a statutory 
purpose. The applicant was emailed on 05 May 2022 (following a letter 
being returned in December 2020 as ‘Not at address’) and offered the 
opportunity to submit their comments on statutory incompatibility in 
relation to application VG128 and responded on 23 May 2022 as detailed 
below: 

 

• “This application was made in 2012 which predates the judgement and I 
would therefore question whether it has retrospective effect. The 
application should have been decided within a reasonable time scale and 
the 10-year delay has been wholly caused by the Local Authority (LA).  
Even if the judgement were to apply the LA must look at the facts of the 
application as at the date it was submitted.  

 

• I submit that the Norbriggs application can be distinguished from R (on 
the application of Lancashire County Council) v Secretary of State for the 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and another (“The Lancashire 
Case”) on the facts.  

 

• A:  Preliminary questions of fact: 
 
In the Lancashire case, the LA held land adjacent to a primary school and 
objected to the land’s registration as a town or village green (TVG), 
arguing that, in exercise of its statutory powers as education authority, 
the land was acquired for and remained appropriated for educational 
purposes. This raises two preliminary questions: 

a) Acquired or appropriated, and 
b) Educational purposes? 

 

Page 35



12 

  

• Before considering the incompatibility test introduced by the Supreme 
Court’s decision in R (on the application of Newhaven Port and Properties 
Ltd) v East Sussex CC [2015] UKSC 7 (“Newhaven”) the LA must 
establish that the LA acquired or appropriated the whole of the piece of 
land in question in the first instance and the purpose for which it was 
appropriated. I would invite the LA to show evidence of this before moving 
on to look at the incompatibility test, as if this cannot be shown, the 
question of incompatibility does not arise. 
 

• The LA must also show the general statutory purpose for which the land 
is held (as set out in the Newhaven case). I would submit that the LA 
cannot establish by evidence that it was acquired or held for educational 
purposes. The field was neither appropriated nor held solely for 
educational use. I know first-hand, and many residents attest that the land 
has not and is not used for educational purposes by the school. The hard-
court area is used regularly by the school but was not in existence for 20 
years prior to the application. In my knowledge as a resident over 40 
years, and on the evidence of other residents, educational use for the 
remainder of the land in question cannot be established, either now, in 
2012 or for the 20 years preceding the application. 

 

• In the 1960’s, prior to the school being built, the land was used for 
recreation by local people. 

 

• No signs or fencing have ever denoted the field as being a school field. 
Public access has never been restricted within the time period in 
question. Fencing and signs erected in 2021 and 2022 are irrelevant to 
the LA’s decision-making process in this application. 

 

• The public perception of the space in living memory is one of free access 
and public use. 

 

• Historic evidence shows public signs denoting the field as a public space. 
 

• No consultation as to change of use has ever been undertaken. 
 

• I note recent reports of the head teacher bringing groups of children out 
onto the field at intervals but would suggest this is irrelevant to the 
application because it is very recent, not in the 20 years prior to the 
application being lodged and is a deliberate reaction to the recent 
strength of feeling toward these issues by residents. 
 

 

Page 36



13 

  

• Even if the LA find the space to be appropriated and held for educational 
purposes (which I submit it cannot), the case law does not establish a 
clear, all-encompassing precedent which defines spaces used for 
educational purposes as wholly incompatible with public use. It must be 
a question of face determined on a case by case basis.  
 

• B: Norbriggs Field can be distinguished on the facts from the 
Lancashire case for the following reasons:  
 

• The land is extensive and varied, some of which is not suitable or safe 
for educational use by a primary school. It is bordered by, and provides 
access to open water, footpaths, a disused quarry and woodland. 
Significant parts of the land are prone to extensive flooding at the school 
side and far end which would make it incompatible with educational use. 
These factors clearly set apart this application from the Lancashire case, 
and this alone is reason to distinguish the case on the facts. The 
precedent therefore cannot apply. 
 

• Time is an important factor to which the Planning Committee must 
attribute significant weight.  Even if the land were used for educational 
purposes at the time in question, (which the evidence clearly shows it 
was not) it was certainly never used for educational purposes for the 
majority of the year. For 12 weeks outside term time it is not used at all 
by the school. Outside school opening times it is not used by the school. 
For the majority of the time in term-time it is not used by the school. 
Annual sports day is held beyond the hard-courts on one or two days a 
year. This is insufficient to establish that the land is held by the LA for 
educational use.  
 

• Rather, the field is and has been utilised by a significant number of the 
inhabitants of this locality as of right in lawful sports and pastimes for a 
period of at least 20 years for the majority of the time, daytime and 
evenings throughout the whole year.  This is entirely on all fours with the 
purpose of the statute. It would be wholly disproportionate to deny the 
general public access to the field. 
 

• Even if the LA were to be able to establish educational use (and I reiterate 
that they simply cannot) the use of the land as a village green is not 
incompatible with that use. The land is sufficiently large to accommodate 
a range of uses at any one time. Historical maps and records show 
fenced off areas, a footpath and “dog walk” which have successfully 
delineated the field for mixed uses, including segregating dog walkers 
from other users. 
 

Page 37



14 

  

• The Lancashire case cites dog faeces as a reason why public use may 
be incompatible with educational use. This is an offence which should be 
dealt with under the council’s powers to enforce or dogs could be banned 
from the field altogether.  A Dog Control Public Spaces Protection Order 
is the proper approach to any such problem. To refuse the application 
solely on these grounds is wholly disproportionate and denies the 
enjoyment of the amenity due to the actions of a minority who should be 
separately prosecuted. It is a matter of resources to enforce such actions 
which is not relevant to the statute to be applied in this case. 
 

• Norbriggs Primary School have sought to exclude the public from the field 
pending this application. The erection of signs and a fence has been 
carried out without recourse to the LA or consultation. The suggestion by 
the Head that there are safeguarding concerns raised by Ofsted as to the 
public use of the field is not supported, but rather contradicted, by the 2 
Ofsted Reports produced during his time as Head. The report of 3-4 July 
2018 praises the school for its safeguarding policy, raises no concerns 
and does not mention the field at all. The report of February 2017 raised 
no safeguarding concerns about the field. 
 

• The school has a significant amount of green and outdoor space within 
the curtilage of the school buildings, bordering Worksop Road and 
adjacent to the first house, none of which is accessible to the public. 
 

• Documents in possession of the LA reveal that on 2/9/93 NJ Turner, 
Acting Head and Richard Camm, DCC Estates acknowledged that the 
field was open to dog walkers, hosted annual public carnivals, a footpath 
and was used by the community for a number of years.  
 

• The CHE/17/00469/OUT 14/10/19 consultation document acknowledges 
the TVG application and cites no formal objection by DCC. 
 

• The LA and Chesterfield Borough Council promote their green initiatives. 
To refuse this application would be contrary to the stated aims of both. 
Recent correspondence between Mr Ramsey (CBC) and local councillors 
(albeit misinformed as to the dates and purpose of this application) rightly 
acknowledges the expansion of residential areas around Woodthorpe, 
including the Cranleigh Development and the Chatsworth Development 
(both of which post-date this application). Mr Ramsey’s comments 
highlight the need for this green space to be preserved all the more.  The 
need for this TVG is enhanced as a result of an increase in the local 
population and depletion of existing green spaces by building.  
 

Page 38



15 

  

• I was lucky enough to use the field for a range of recreational purposes 
as a child. I taught my own children to cycle, throw, catch and kick a ball 
30 years later. It is a safe, visible and accessible space. Due to the 
decisions made by local planners to expand the village, there are a 
significantly greater number of young families in the area now who require 
and deserve the same amenity. 
 

• I would submit that the LA must grant the application for Village Green 
status as not to do so would be contrary to the wording and purpose of 
the statute, against public policy and against the principles of natural 
justice. 
 

• I would also remind the LA that following registration, the owner would 
not be excluded altogether, but would retain the right to use the land in 
any way which does not interfere with the recreational rights of the 
inhabitants, with “give and take on both sides”. This approach is exactly 
what must happen in the Norbriggs case.” 

 
 
4.11 The County Council, as Landowner was offered the opportunity to 

respond to the Applicant’s submission in relation to statutory 
incompatibility and replied in an email dated 3 August 2022. In the email, 
it stated that, “The Council does wish to raise on objection on this ground 
and our justification is set out below. 

 
The Council acquired the land on the 31st March 1971. Whilst the 
Conveyance does not specifically mention the purpose for which the land 
was to be used, an extract of a local search carried out at that time 
confirms that the land was part of a development plan for a local primary 
school. 

 

• My understanding from CAYA and the headteacher is that the land has 
been used since 1971 as playing fields for the adjoining primary school.  

 

• The intended future use of the land is primarily for use as a playing field 
for the primary school. Part of the site will need to be converted at some 
stage into a playground to compensate for the loss of the playground area 
at the school due to expansion of the buildings at the main school site.   

 
4.12    The Independent Inspector was asked to give advice on the affect that 

Lancashire and statutory incompatibility would have on an application to 
register land held by a public body for statutory purposes. 

 
4.13 The Inspector considers the recent case law on Statutory Incompatibility 

from paragraph 10 to paragraph 14 in the attached document (Appendix 

Page 39



16 

  

3), where two public authorities held land for statutory purposes. On 11 
December 2019 a majority of the United Kingdom Supreme Court; Lord 
Carnwath, Lord Sales and Lady Black JJSC, held that parcels of land 
owned by Lancashire County Council and NHS Property Services Ltd 
could not be registered as TVGs because the land was held by the 
authorities for defined statutory purposes, and registration as a TVG 
would be in conflict with those statutory purposes. This is known as the 
principle of ‘statutory incompatibility’ 

 
4.14 The Inspector considers whether land subject to a TVG application needs 

to be owned by a public authority for the whole of the claim period in 
paragraph 17, concluding:  

 
“…that if at any point in a period of twenty years a parcel of land is held 
by a public authority for relevant statutory purposes, a continuous and 
uninterrupted period of qualifying use of the land by the public cannot 
arise, because whilst the land is held for those statutory purposes the 
provisions of the 2006 Act do not apply to it: it is not registrable.” 

 
4.15 In respect of a public authority providing evidence of the statutory powers 

under which it holds land, the Inspector considers Lancashire and the 
need to identify the statutory purpose for which land was held, 
concluding: 

 
“Statutory incompatibility does not apply like a blanket policy to all land in 
public ownership. The powers must be identified so that it can be 
examined if there is, in fact, an incompatibility at all. Therefore, in my 
view, there needs to be more than an assertion. However, the evidence 
need not be conclusive and it is reasonable to make presumptions about 
pieces of evidence that cannot be found anymore.” 

 
4.16 Further she states that where a public body has identified the reason for 

which land was acquired but hasn’t identified the specific statutory power 
that is pursuant to: 

 
“I do not consider that that is necessarily fatal to an argument that 
statutory incompatibility applies because all local authority powers to 
acquire and hold land must be derived from some statutory power to hold 
land for a particular purpose.” 

 
4.17 At paragraph 33 Miss Graham Paul considers whether there is an 

incompatibility between use of the land for ‘highways and depots’ and 
registration as a TVG. She observes that use for ‘highways and depots’ 
may require potential building operations and vehicular access which 
would be prohibited by the 19th century Victorian legislation in s. 29 of the 

Page 40



17 

  

Commons Act 1976 and s. 29 of the Commons Act 1876 which applies 
to nuisances. This observation in relation to ‘highways and depots’ can 
also be attributed to other purposes for which land may be held. In this 
matter, the land known as Norbriggs Field is held for educational 
purposes, as part of the Norbriggs Primary School playing fields. The 
school, or indeed the landowner (Derbyshire County Council) would have 
been free to develop the land as appropriate in order to provide the best 
facilities for the education of the school’s pupils. The landowner has 
confirmed the Application Land is part of Norbriggs Primary School and 
it is accepted that the land is, and has been since 1971, held for 
educational purposes, which is a statutory function of the council. 

 
4.18 The Inspector’s conclusion at paragraph 35 is that: 
 

“I therefore consider that the application should fail on account of a 
statutory incompatibility between the Borough Council’s holding of the 
land for “highways and depots” and the recreational rights that would flow 
from TVG registration. The consequence is that the Borough Council’s 
rights prevail, and it is not open to the applicant to register this land as a 
TVG. I would therefore advise that the application is dismissed.” 

 
4.19 It therefore follows that the application to register the Application Land 
as a TVG, which has been held by Derbyshire County Council for educational 
purposes since 1971, should also fail on account of a statutory incompatibility 
between the County Council’s holding of the land for educational purposes and 
the recreational public rights that would flow from TVG registration. 

 
5. Consultation 
 
5.1 Notice of the Application was published in The Derbyshire Times on 28 

June 2012 and posted on site. 
 
5.2 Two objections were received following the Notice of the Application. One 

from the headteacher of Norbriggs School and one from Derbyshire 
County Council (as landowner) 

 
5.3 The details and issues raised in response to the consultation are 

summarised above. 
 
6. Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1 Committee rejects the recommendation in relation to VG128 and resolves 

that further detailed investigation and analysis is required of the evidence 
available, both in support and objection to the Application , if Committee 
members believe that the evidence and assertion provided by Derbyshire 

Page 41



18 

  

County Council, that the Application Land is held for educational 
purposes, is unfounded and does not show there is a statutory 
incompatibility between the statutory purpose for which the Application 
Land is held by the County Council and registration as a TVG. This option 
should be rejected because the evidence submitted by the County 
Council shows that the land is held for educational purposes and is a part 
of Norbriggs School and such use would be incompatible with registration 
as a TVG which would allow local inhabitants to use the land freely for 
lawful sports and pastimes. 

 
6.2 That Committee neither rejects or accepts the recommendation and 

resolves not to determine the application. This option should be rejected 
because to neither accept nor reject the recommendation would leave the 
application undetermined. 

 
7. Implications 
 
7.1 Appendix 1 sets out the relevant implications considered in the 

preparation of the report. 
 
8. Background Papers 
 
8.1 Application file VG128 (legal Services reference 49145) held by the 

Director of Legal Services. 
 
9. Appendices 
 
9.1 Appendix 1 – Implications. 
 
9.2 Appendix 2 – Plan showing the land subject to the TVG application. 
 
9.3 Appendix 3 – Independent Inspector’s report considering the implications 

of statutory incompatibility on the determination of applications for 
registration of land as TVG 

 
9.4 Appendix 4 – The landowner’s submission – Land Searches record from 

Staveley Urban District Council, dated 11 March 1971 
 
10. Recommendation(s) 
 

That Committee resolves to refuse the application to register the land 
known as Norbriggs Field in Woodthorpe as a TVG.  

 
 
 

Page 42



19 

  

11. Reasons for Recommendation(s) 
 
11.1 Derbyshire County Council is the Registration Authority for Woodthorpe 

where the Application Land is located. 
 
11.2 For the reasons set out in this report and as considered in Appendix 3, it 

has been shown that the statutory purpose for which the Application Land 
is held is incompatible with registration of the Application Land as a town 
or village green and that the land cannot therefore be legally registered 
as a TVG. 

 
 
Report Author:  Pete Shimwell    
Contact details: pete.shimwell@derbyshire.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 43

mailto:pete.shimwell@derbyshire.gov.uk


20 

  

Appendix 1 
Implications 
 
Financial  
 
1.1 The cost of determining this matter will be met from the existing budget 
 
Legal 
 
2.1 Legal considerations are considered within the main body of the report 

and in the Inspectors report at Appendix 3 
 
2.2 As noted in this report the Application was made pursuant to section 15(2) 

of the 2006 Act which provides: 
 

15  Registration of greens: 
 
(1) Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to 
register land to which this Part applies as a town or village green in a case 
where subsection (2), (3) or (4) applies. 
 
(2) This subsection applies where – 
 
(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful sports 
and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and 
(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 
2.3 In order for an applicant to succeed in an application to have land 

registered as a TVG, the Registration Authority must be satisfied that 
each and every part of the foregoing statutory test is met. In the event 
that any part of the test is not satisfied the application must fail. 

 
2.4 The principle of ‘statutory incompatibility’ (as outlined by the Inspector in 

her report at Appendix 3: 
 
“On 11 December 2019 a majority of the United Kingdom Supreme 
Court… held that parcels of land owned by Lancashire County Council 
and NHS Property Services Ltd could not be registered as TVGs under 
s. 15 of the Commons Act 2006 because the land was held by the 
authorities for defined statutory purposes under general acts of 
parliament, and registration as a TVG would be in conflict with those 
statutory purposes... 
 

Page 44



21 

  

In the Lancashire case, the land was held for statutory education 
purposes...  
 
The Supreme Court held that the rights which TVG registration conferred 
on local residents to use the land for recreation in perpetuity were 
incompatible with the use of any of the land for education purposes, 
including for example construction of new school buildings or playing 
fields. It was not necessary for Lancashire County Council to show that 
the land was currently being used for such purposes, only that they are 
held for such statutory purposes.” 

 
Human Resources 
 
3.1 None associated with this report 
 
Information Technology 
 
4.1 None associated with this report 
 
Equalities Impact 
 
5.1 None associated with this report. 
 
Corporate objectives and priorities for change 
 
6.1 None associated with this report. 
 
Other (for example, Health and Safety, Environmental Sustainability, 
Property and Asset Management, Risk Management and Safeguarding) 
 
7.1 In preparing the Report the relevance of the following factors as far as 
they are not covered by the Report has been considered: social value, 
environmental, health, personal and property considerations, the prevention of 
crime and disorder, equality of opportunity. 
  

Page 45



22 

  

Appendix 2 
 
 

Plan showing the land subject to the town or village green application 
 

 
 

  

Page 46



23 

  

Appendix 3 
 

PLEASE NOTE: THIS REPORT IS NOT WRITTEN SPECIFICALLY FOR 
THIS MATTER AND SHOULD ONLY BE READ FOR CLARIFICATION IN 
RELATION TO THE PRINCIPLE OF STATUTORY INCOMPATIBILITY 
 

 
Independent Inspector’s report considering the implications of statutory 
incompatibility on the determination of applications for registration of 
land as TVG 
 

 
RE: APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND OFF FALL ROAD AND LOWER GLADSTONE STREET, 

HEANOR AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN 
 

________________________________ 
 

OPINION 
_______________________________ 

 
 
Introduction 

 

1. I am asked to advise Derbyshire County Council (‘the registration authority’) in respect 

of an application to register land off Fall Road and Lower Gladstone Street, Heanor as 

a town or village green (Ref: VG90). I am particularly asked to advise in respect of 

whether the application ought to fail in light of the recent Supreme Court judgment in 

Lancashire County Council v Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs [2019] UKSC 58 and generally with regard to the principles of statutory 

incompatibility. 

 

Factual Background 

 

2. The relevant facts are as follows. 

 

3. The application was validly made on 23 July 2004 by Kenneth Armstrong under s. 13 

of the Commons Registration Act 1965. The relevant period is April 1984 to April 2004.  

 

Page 47



24 

  

4. Part of the land is currently owned by Amber Valley Borough Council (Title number 

DY357952) and part (Title number DY353196) by Futures Homescape Ltd (trading as 

Futures Housing Group). 

  

5. The application land was originally acquired in full by Heanor UDC on 26 April 1923 for 

the purposes of providing “highways and depots” (see the Land Terrier attached to 

Amber Valley Borough Council’s Additional Submissions). It passed through local 

government reorganization to Amber Valley Borough Council.  From the late 1970s, 

the land was laid out as a car parking area and part of it was made into a roadway 

along the rea of the houses along Lower Gladstone Street. From 1980, Amber Valley 

Borough Council let out plots on the land to local residents to enable them to erect 

garages on them (one garage currently remains).  

 

6. On 24 February 2003, Amber Valley Borough Council transferred part of area to Amber 

Valley Housing Limited. The current owner (Futures Homescape) was formed from 

Amber Valley Housing Limited and Daventry and District Housing. These are private 

not-for-profit companies that operate as registered social landlords. Future 

Homescape have made a planning application to develop the car park for four 

affordable housing dwellings (Ref AVA/2019/1243). The land is subject to a formal 

designation in the Amber Valley Borough Council Local Plan (April 2006) under Policy 

LC3 Playing Fields, Parks and Informal Open Space which restricts development which 

would result in its loss. 

 

Instructions 

 

7. I am asked to consider any impact that statutory incompatibility may have on this 

particular application and advise how the registration authority should seek to 

determine the application. I am also asked to consider, in relation to Title Number 

DY353196 (Future Homescapes’ part of the land) on whether the restrictive covenants 

might relate to statutory incompatibility. I have had sight of submissions from the 

Page 48



25 

  

objectors on the issue of statutory incompatibility and a response from the applicant 

by email. 

 

8. I am also asked to advise on statutory incompatibility in a broader sense that may be 

appropriate to other applications where land is owned by a public body, giving specific 

advice on: 

 

(a) Does the land subject to the application need to have been owned by the public 

authority for the full 20 year period under consideration? 

(b) If use of the land as a town or village partly or fully predates the ownership of the 

land by the public authority, does statutory incompatibility apply? 

(c) If a private company is undertaking a statutory function for a public authority, does 

statutory incompatibility apply regardless of whether the land is still within the 

ownership of that public body or owned by the private company? I.e. would the 

company be considered a ‘public authority’? 

(d) What procedure should the Council put in place for dealing with applications 

where it considers statutory incompatibility is relevant i.e. should the Council ask 

interested parties for their comments based on statutory incompatibility? 

(e) Should land, regardless of ownership, subject to a Local Authority’s Local Plan be 

protected from being registered as a TVG as a result of the recent case law? 

(f) When considering TVG application where land is owned by a public authority, is it 

enough for the public authority to prove ownership and assert the reason for 

which it is held or would the public authority need to provide evidence that the 

land is held for a statutory purpose for statutory incompatibility to be relevant? 

 

9. I propose dealing with the general points of advice first before moving to consider the 

implications of statutory incompatibility for this specific application. 

 

The Decision in Lancashire and NHS Property Services 

 

Page 49



26 

  

10. On 11 December 2019 a majority of the United Kingdom Supreme Court – Lord 

Carnwath, Lord Sales and Lady Black JJSC – held that parcels of land owned by 

Lancashire County Council and NHS Property Services Ltd could not be registered as 

TVGs under s. 15 of the Commons Act 2006 because the land was held by the 

authorities for defined statutory purposes under general acts of parliament, and 

registration as a TVG would be in conflict with those statutory purposes. This is known 

as the principle of ‘statutory incompatibility’. Lord Wilson JSC gave a dissenting 

judgment and Lady Arden JSC gave a partially dissenting judgment.  

 

11. In the Lancashire case, the land was held for statutory education purposes. In the NHS 

Property Services case, the owner was a limited company, created by the Secretary of 

State for Health under his power to form companies “to provide facilities or services 

to persons or bodies exercising functions, or otherwise providing services, under [the 

National Health Service Act 2006]”. The land was held for statutory health purposes. 

 

12. The Supreme Court held that the rights which TVG registration conferred on local 

residents to use the land for recreation in perpetuity were incompatible with the use 

of any of the land for education purposes, including for example construction of new 

school buildings or playing fields. It was not necessary for Lancashire County Council 

to show that the land was currently being used for such purposes, only that they are 

held for such statutory purposes (see [65]). Similar points arose in relation to the NHS 

land. 

 

13. A “factual inquiry” into the present or likely future uses of the land in question was 

not part of the proper application of the statutory incompatibility principle, according 

to the majority judgment. Thus, whilst there must be some consideration by the 

decision-maker as to (i) those uses or activities which might, in the abstract, be 

required on the land as a result of a particular applicable statutory duty, and (ii) 

whether the rights of local inhabitants to use a green, and the effect of the 19th century 

statutes which prohibit disturbance of the soil, fencing and so on would be in conflict 

with those uses or activities. Nevertheless, the question is whether there could be 

Page 50



27 

  

conflict by reference to the statutory powers in question, and not by reference to the 

state of affairs on the ground either now or in the future. 

 

14. In a similar vein, the majority of the court did not accept the proposition that for 

statutory incompatibility to be engaged, the statute which conferred on the public 

authority its powers and functions must also identify the land on which those powers 

and functions were to be exercised. 

 

15. The consequences of the decision, in terms of which pieces of public authority land 

are and are not affected by the statutory incompatibility principle, is still at large. The 

case of TW Logistics v Essex County Council (UKSC 2018/0234) was heard by the 

Supreme Court on 1-2 April 2020, however the judgment has not yet been handed 

down. That case will consider how the legislation prohibiting activities on town or 

village greens interacts with the registration regime i.e. whether rights of the 

landowner to continue pre-existing uses are inconsistent with the uses which led to 

registration. This may affect whether there is an ‘incompatibility’ at all in some cases.  

 

16. I will therefore address the questions that I have been asked to advise on, but with 

the caveat that these are my opinions as to how the Courts are most likely to consider 

the situation, rather than a definitive statement of the law as it stands. 

 

Question 1: Does the land subject to the application need to have been owned by the public 

authority for the full 20 year period under consideration? 

 

17. It appears from the majority judgment in Lancashire that if the principle of statutory 

incompatibility is engaged for any part of the relevant 20 year period then an 

application to register the land as a TVG will fail. At [55], the Supreme Court stated 

that where there is an incompatibility between the statutory purpose for which the 

land is held and use of that land as a TVG: “This has the result that the provisions of 

Page 51



28 

  

the 2006 Act are, as a matter of construction of that Act, not applicable in relation to 

it”. What the Court appears to be saying is that the existence of relevant statutory 

duties means that such land cannot be registered and the right to apply to register the 

land does not apply to it. It would seem to follow, therefore, that if at any point in a 

period of twenty years a parcel of land is held by a public authority for relevant 

statutory purposes, a continuous and uninterrupted period of qualifying use of the 

land by the public cannot arise, because whilst the land is held for those statutory 

purposes the provisions of the 2006 Act do not apply to it: it is not registrable. 

 

Question 2: If use of the land as a town or village partly or fully predates the ownership of 

the land by the public authority, does statutory incompatibility apply? 

 

18. If the relevant TVG period overlaps with a period of statutory incompatibility, the 

application will fail for the reasons set out above. If the statutory incompatibility arises 

after the TVG application is made, then I do not see that it could operate 

retrospectively. Otherwise, any TVG application – validly made – could be defeated 

simply by transferring land to a local authority to hold for an incompatible statutory 

purpose. The point about the incompatibility is that it must arise simultaneously with 

the right to register the land as a TVG for the former to ‘trump’ the latter. 

 

19. The question is more complicated if there is a statutory incompatibility at the time of 

the application to register the land as a TVG but that only arose after the relevant 

period of user ended. In my view, in light of the comments in [55] of Lancashire above, 

TVG registration would not be possible, because – if there is an incompatibility as at 

the date of the application – the operation of s. 15 Commons Act 2006 is not applicable 

and so the tests cannot be met, even by reference to an earlier period. However, this 

is not a point that I am aware has been tested as yet. 

 

Question 3: If a private company is undertaking a statutory function for a public authority, 

does statutory incompatibility apply regardless of whether the land is still within the 

Page 52



29 

  

ownership of that public body or owned by the private company? I.e. would the company 

be considered a ‘public authority’? 

 

20. As set out above, NHS Property Services was a private company. However, it was 

created by the Secretary of State for Health under his power to form companies “to 

provide facilities or services to persons or bodies exercising functions, or otherwise 

providing services, under [the National Health Service Act 2006]”. The land was held 

for statutory health purposes. 

 

21. The question is not determined so much by who the owner of the land is, but by 

whether it is held for a statutory purpose (which is incompatible with rights flowing 

from TVG registration). Therefore, if a private company owns land in order to fulfil 

statutory functions for a public authority, then I consider that statutory incompatibility 

could arise. However, it would depend on the nature of the relationship between the 

private company and the public authority and whether it is clear that the statutory 

functions have passed to the private company (this was clear in the case of NHS 

Property Services, but may not be so clear in other cases).  

 

Question 4: What procedure should the Council put in place for dealing with applications 

where it considers statutory incompatibility is relevant i.e. should the Council ask interested 

parties for their comments based on statutory incompatibility? 

 

22. There is obvious public interest in ensuring that TVG applications are dealt with in as 

timely and efficient manner as possible. If it is clear from objections (or the registration 

authority’s own consideration of the matter) that an issue of statutory incompatibility 

may arise, then I would treat this as a preliminary issue requiring determination before 

an application proceeds any further (akin to consideration of trigger events). It may 

be that specific written submissions are needed and, even potentially, the opportunity 

for oral legal argument to be made to the registration authority. This can be done as 

a preliminary issue without the need to hear witness evidence in relation to the use. I 

Page 53



30 

  

do not see why the procedure rules prevent active case management of an application 

in this way. 

 

23. I have experience of advising registration authorities on trigger events, having 

received opposing legal opinions from the parties, and this has been a successful way 

of dealing early on with a determinative issue. If a party is aggrieved by the conclusion 

on the issue, then they have the opportunity to judicially review the registration 

authority’s decision on that single issue, rather than having to wait for the outcome of 

a public inquiry and going to the time and expense of preparing the case on all the 

other issues. 

 

Question 5: Should land, regardless of ownership, subject to a Local Authority’s Local Plan 

be protected from being registered as a TVG as a result of the recent case law? 

 

24. I do not consider that the concept of statutory incompatibility extends this far. 

Although statutory incompatibility is judge-made and there is no clear definition of 

when it will arise, it is predicated on there being an Act of Parliament that says that a 

public body should use land, which it holds for a particular purpose, for that purpose. 

The village green registration statutes confer rights on certain individuals to do things 

on that same land. There is a conflict – whether actual, or potential – between the 

statutory rights of individuals to do certain things, and the requirement for a public 

body to do other things.  

 

25. Allocation of land in a Local Plan is not the same as a public body holding land for a 

particular purpose. One might also argue that, now that the trigger events include 

identification of land in planning policy, such legislation would be wholly otiose and 

unnecessary if such land was already incapable of being registered as a TVG. I 

therefore do not consider that Local Plan allocation is in and of itself determinative of 

whether statutory incompatibility arises. 

 

Page 54



31 

  

Question 6: When considering TVG application where land is owned by a public authority, 

is it enough for the public authority to prove ownership and assert the reason for which it 

is held or would the public authority need to provide evidence that the land is held for a 

statutory purpose for statutory incompatibility to be relevant? 

 

26. An issue in the Lancashire case was whether the land was held for statutory education 

purposes as a matter of fact. In general terms, public authorities cannot simply own 

land for no particular purpose. Being statutory creations, all their powers to acquire 

and hold land must be derived from some particular statutory power.  

 

27. Lancashire County Council presented evidence at the public inquiry, all of which 

pointed towards the conclusion that the land was acquired and thereafter held for 

statutory education purposes, albeit none of the evidence was definitive. There was 

no evidence to suggest the land had been acquired for any other purpose or 

appropriated to some other purpose. Nevertheless the Inspector concluded that she 

was not satisfied the land was acquired and held for statutory education purposes. 

The High Court and Court of Appeal opined that they would have reached the opposite 

conclusion, but that the Inspector’s decision was not irrational.  

 

28. The majority in the Supreme Court held that the Inspector’s assessment was irrational, 

having regard to the relevant standard of proof and the evidence available. “There 

was no evidence to support any inference other than that each part of the land had 

been acquired for, and continued during the relevant period to be held for, statutory 

educational purposes. An assessment made without any supporting evidence cannot 

stand” [32]. Neither of the dissenting judgments dissented on this issue. 

 

29. It is notable that Lancashire County Council did produce some evidence as to how the 

land was held i.e. more than an assertion. Often with historical records, there are gaps 

in knowledge and it is appropriate to apply the presumption of regularity in respect of 

a public authority’s record keeping. In my view, given the point about statutory 

incompatibility is that there is particular statute which enables the public authority to 

Page 55



32 

  

use the land in a certain way, it is essential that at lease the purpose for which the 

public authority owns the land is identified. Statutory incompatibility does not apply 

like a blanket policy to all land in public ownership. The powers must be identified so 

that it can be examined if there is, in fact, an incompatibility at all. Therefore, in my 

view, there needs to be more than an assertion. However, the evidence need not be 

conclusive and it is reasonable to make presumptions about pieces of evidence that 

cannot be found anymore.  

 

Application of the Principles of Statutory Incompatibility to this Particular Case 

 

30. Having set out my views to the general questions I have been asked to advise on, I will 

turn now to consider the particular facts of this case. 

 

31. The Lancashire case concerned the Commons Act 2006 and not the Commons 

Registration Act 1965 (which is the relevant Act for the application under 

consideration). I do not, however, consider that effects the potential applicability of 

the doctrine of statutory incompatibility. Whilst the question of statutory construction 

was specifically undertaken in the context of s. 15 of the 2006 Act, that Act 

consolidated and updated the Commons Registration Act 1965. I do not consider that 

there is any fundamental distinction between the drafting of the 1965 and 2006 Acts. 

The context of statutory incompatibility is that it is entirely judge-made, as a concept. 

It does not derive from any particular enactment and thus it will, in my view, apply 

equally if there is a conflict with the 1965 Act as it does if there is a conflict with the 

2006 Act. 

 

32. Amber Valley Borough Council have identified that the land was acquired by their 

predecessor local authority for the purposes of providing “highways and depots”. They 

have not, however, identified which particular statutory power that is pursuant to. I 

do not consider that that is necessarily fatal to an argument that statutory 

incompatibility applies because all local authority powers to acquire and hold land 

must be derived from some statutory power to hold land for a particular purpose. 

Page 56



33 

  

However, it would have been more useful to know the exact statute which the Council 

relies on. 

 

33. There then needs to be consideration given as to whether there is, in fact, an 

incompatibility between the use of the land for “highways and depots” (which it must 

be assumed is pursuant to a statutory power) and registration as a TVG. In my view, 

there would be an incompatibility because the use of the land for highways and depots 

requires potential building operations on the land (i.e. construction of garages etc.) 

and vehicular access and parking on the land. Both of these activities (construction of 

buildings and driving and parking of vehicles) would be prohibited by the 19th century 

Victorian legislation in s. 29 of the Commons Act 1976 (which is particularly aimed at 

preventing building on greens) and s. 29 of the Commons Act 1876 which applies to 

nuisances. It is an offence under s. 34 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 to drive a 

mechanically propelled vehicle onto or upon a registered green without lawful 

authority. Although there may be an argument to be canvassed by the Supreme Court 

in the forthcoming judgment in TW Logistics v Essex CC concerning the extent to which 

rights of the landowner can co-exist with the rights flowing from TVG registration, I do 

not consider that there would be any doubt cast on the fact that TVG registration 

would be incompatible with use of the land as a car park.  

 

34. I have also considered whether any issue arises in this case in light of the transfer of 

part of Amber Valley Borough Council’s land to the registered social landlord company 

in February 2003 (i.e. before the end of the relevant 20 year period). I have set out my 

views on the issues of whether the land needs to be in public authority ownership 

throughout the 20 year period and the role of private companies carrying out public 

functions in my general advice above. In my view, so long as, during at least part of 

the 20 year period, there has been a statutory incompatibility in relation to the whole 

of the land, that will be sufficient to mean that the right to register the land as a TVG 

is simply not available. In this case, Amber Valley Borough Council have, in any event, 

owned the whole of the land for the vast majority of the 20 year period. I do not 

consider it is therefore necessary to consider the relationship between the private 

Page 57



34 

  

company and the Borough Council to establish whether any ‘quasi’ statutory public 

functions are being carried out by them. 

 

35. I therefore consider that the application should fail on account of a statutory 

incompatibility between the Borough Council’s holding of the land for “highways and 

depots” and the recreational rights that would flow from TVG registration. The 

consequence is that the Borough Council’s rights prevail and it is not open to the 

applicant to register this land as a TVG. I would therefore advise that the application 

is dismissed for the reasons I have given.  

 

36. I note also that I was advised to consider the effect of the restrictive covenant on the 

title DY357952 (i.e. the land retained by the Borough Council0 to the effect that the 

purchasers must erect and maintain good and substantial fences. I do not consider 

that the covenant is relevant to the issue of statutory incompatibility as it is a private 

land charge rather than an issue of statutory powers and duties. 

 

Conclusion and Next Steps 

 

37. As set out above, I consider that the application should be rejected on the basis that 

the statutory power to register the land as a TVG would be incompatible with the 

statutory power under which Amber Valley Borough Council held the land during the 

relevant period, namely for highways and depots. I should add that there are some 

untested matters which have informed my conclusion – in particular, whether 

statutory incompatibility applies to applications made under the Commons 

Registration Act 1965, and whether it is sufficient to identify the purpose for which 

the land was required and not the express statutory power itself. However, my advice 

is that a Court would be most likely to reach the conclusions on these issues that I 

have.  

 

38. In terms of procedure, I do not consider that a public inquiry is necessary to determine 

this preliminary point, since no witness evidence needs to be tested. I would 

Page 58



35 

  

recommend that my conclusions and reasoning are copied into a delegated report to 

make the decision. I note that at the registration authority’s meeting on 23 March 

2020, it was resolved to appoint an Inspector to advise the Council. I have provided 

that advice. However, if the Council would prefer a summary of the points specific to 

this application in a separate ‘Report’ for presentation reasons then I can provide that.  

 

39. Please do let me know if any questions arise as a result of this advice or if I can be of 

further assistance. 

 

ANNABEL GRAHAM PAUL 

 

Francis Taylor Building 

Inner Temple 

EC4Y 7BY 

 

17 June 2020 

  

Page 59



36 

  

Appendix 4 
 

Landowner’s submission – Land Searches record from Staveley Urban 
District Council, dated 11 March 1971 
 

 

Page 60



37 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 61



38 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



39 

  

 

 

Page 63



40 

  

 

 

 

Page 64



41 

  

 

Page 65



42 

  

 

Page 66



 1 

 
 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

31 October 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director – Place 
 

 Item for the Committee’s Information 
 

CURRENT ENFORCEMENT ACTION 
 

Site Breach Action Taken Comment 
Lindrick, Mansfield 
Road, Corbriggs 
(formerly MXG) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Unauthorised storage 
and processing of inert 
waste. 

Enforcement Notice issued 27 June 2013, requiring 
removal of all waste material before 1 August 2014.  A 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice was 
issued on 23 March 2015. This extended the period of 
compliance for the processing and removal of waste to 
31 January 2016, and the seeding of the exposed 
perimeter banks to 31 July 2016. 
Planning Contravention Notice issued 1 November 
2016 (response received). 

Site inactive.  
 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 8



 2 

 
 
 
 
 

Breach of Condition Notice (Mud on Road) issued 19 
December 2016. 
Notice of Relaxation of Enforcement Notice issued on 
10 July 2017 extended the period of compliance to 31 
December 2017. 

Stancliffe Quarry 
3.696R 

Condition 43 relating 
to stability of land 
adjacent to quarry 
face. Non–compliance 
relating to requirement 
to provide appropriate 
remediation scheme. 
 
February 2017 
Breach involving the 
removal of stone via 
unauthorised access, 
creation of access 
track and damage to 
trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Order. 

Breach of Condition Notice served October 2013 
requiring submission of a relevant scheme by end of 
January 2014 (extended date). 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 17 February 2017. 
Interim Injunction Order granted 31 March 2017. 

Site inactive. Two planning 
applications relating to the site 
under consideration 
CM3/0918/48 and CM3/0918/49). 
(Applications held in abeyance 
pending submissions to 
Derbyshire Dales District 
Council). 

Land west of Park 
Farm, Woodland 
Road, Stanton 

Without planning 
permission, the 
change of use of the 
land from an 
agricultural use to a 
use comprising 
agriculture and the 
importation and 
storage of waste 
material.  

Enforcement Notice issued 14 December 2018 Date notice takes effect – 21 
January 2019. 
Ongoing monitoring of notice 
requirements.  
Monitoring stalled previously due 
to Covid-19. Inspection to be 
arranged.  

Land at Park Hills 
Farm, Mugginton 

Without planning 
permission, the 

Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2019. 
Enforcement Notice issued 3 February 2020. 

Ongoing monitoring/review. 
Enforcement notice took effect 4 
March 2020. 

P
age 68



 3 

Lane End, Weston 
Underwood 

deposit of waste 
materials onto land. 

Monitoring stalled previously due 
to Covid-19. Inspection to be 
arranged. 

Land at Lady Lea 
Road, Horsley 

Importation and 
deposit of material 
onto land. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 28 October 
2019. 
Temporary Stop Notice issued 29 May 2020. 
Enforcement Notice issued 16 July 2020 – Notice 
takes effect on 19 August 2020 unless an appeal is 
lodged before the effective date.   

Appeal against enforcement 
notice lodged with Planning 
Inspectorate.  Appeal start date - 
8 September 2020. 
Appeal Decision received 21 April 
2022 – Enforcement notice 
upheld. 

Land at Barden 
Farm/Hirst Farm, 
Smalley 

Importation and 
deposit of waste 
material; treatment 
and processing of 
waste material; 
formation of an 
excavation and 
deposit of waste 
material within the 
excavation. 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 4 August 2020 – 
Response required by 25 August 2020.   
Response received. 

Planning Contravention Notice 
issued in consultation with Amber 
Valley Borough Council.  

Land at Barden 
Farm, Smalley 

Importation of waste 
material, deposit of 
waste material, 
transfer of waste 
material, storage of 
waste material and 
empty skips, and 
treatment of waste 
material 

Planning Contravention Notice issued 30 November 
2021. 
Response received 

Planning Contravention Notice 
served on Heanor Mini Skips Ltd 

 
 

Chris Henning 
Executive Director – Place 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING SERVICES
Outstanding Items
Date: 19/10/2022

EIA applications outstanding more than 16 weeks
MAJOR applications outstanding more than 13 weeks
MINOR applications outstanding more than 8 weeks

APP CODE PROPOSAL LOCATION STATUS WEEKS
EIA (5)

CD9/0222/34 Conversion and extension of existing 
buildings to commercial use, and 
construction of access drive and car 
park.

Elvaston Castle Country Park, Borrowash 
Road, Elvaston, DE72 3EP

Further Information 
Awaited

31

CM6/0122/28 Outline planning permission with some 
matters reserved, for an alternative form 
of restoration and redevelopment of 
Crich quarry for a mixed-use leisure 
development on approximately 43 acres 
of land.

Crich Quarry, Town End, Crich, Matlock, 
DE4 5DP

Awaiting additional 
information with 
regard to EIA 
following Regulation 
25 request

34

CM9/0816/46 Application under section 73 to not 
comply with, and to vary, conditions 7 
and 63 of planning permission 
CM9/0811/53, relating to commencment 
of extraction in the ‘weston extension’ 
prior to completing restoration of phase 
8 and 9,  and to allow increased 
stocking of waste materials in the landfill 
transfer station at shardlow quarry

Shardlow Quarry, Acre Lane, Shardlow, 
DE72 2SP

Report being 
prepared

246

CM3/0817/40 Development of a lateral extension to 
the south west of the existing permitted 
operations to provide the winning and 
working of minerals, associated 
ancillary operations and amended 
restoration scheme through landfill at 
Slinter Top Quarry.

Slinter Top Quarry, Cromford, Matlock, 
DE4 3QS

Consultation replies 
being considered

271

CM6/1110/112 Recovery of 400,000 tonnes of coal 
using surface mining and the 
development of two flood alliviation 
areas along the Bottle Brook at George 
Farm Reclamation Site, Denby.

George Farm, Denby, Derbyshire,DE5 
8PP

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

612

Major (10)

CW5/1121/24 Application under S73 to vary conditions 
3, 4, 6, 9, 10 and 18 of planning 
permission CW5/0218/89 in order to 
extend the duration of the permission 
for the importation of inert waste  

Land at Creswell Colliery Lagoons, 
Frithwood Lane, Creswell

Report being 
prepared

13

CW8/0622/7 Partial replacement of middle waste 
handing building at existing recycling 
facility (in retrospect).

The Old Ironworks, Crompton Road, 
Ilkeston, Derbyshire, DE7 4BG

Consultation 
Replies Awaited

19

CM6/0522/5 Importation and stockpiling of 50,000 
tonnes of PFA within the existing clay 
stockpiling area of Waingroves Quarry

Waingroves Quarry, Whiteley Road, 
Ripley, DE5 3QL

Report Written 20

CW5/0422/3 Single storey portal frame extension to 
existing waste recycling hall

H W Martin, Recycling Centre, 14, Clover 
Nook Road, South Normanton, 
Derbyshire, DE55 4RF

Further Information 
Awaited

22

CW2/0322/37 Proposed development / 
recommencement of operation of a dry 
recyclates storage/ bulking facility & 
associated infrastructure at the former 
GKN Engineering Site, Sheepbridge 
Lane, Chesterfield, Derbyshire.

Sheepbridge Works, Units 11a And 11b, 
Sheepbridge Lane, Sheepbridge, 
Derbyshire, S41 9RX

Further Information 
Awaited

25

CW2/0521/3 Extended area for scrap metal recovery 
and ancillary operations to encompass 
wider site area, including increase 
incoming waste tonnage to 75,000 
tonnes per annum, additional storage 
areas, and increase the storage 
stockpile heights to 4 metres (m) in 
bays.

Pinball Metals Ltd., Unit 2, Burley Close, 
Chesterfield, S40 2UB

Further Information 
Awaited

70

PUBLIC Agenda Item -

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



APP CODE PROPOSAL LOCATION STATUS WEEKS
CM3/0918/48 Amendment to condition 7, 10 & 11 of 

determined conditions approval 
R3/0699/17 (LET 7276). Relating to 
quarry permit 1390/9/2 (7 March 1952)

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale Road North, 
Matlock

Held in Abeyance 201

CM3/0918/49 Formation of new access and road to 
existing quarry

Stancliffe Quarry, Dale Road North, 
Darley Dale,DE4 2GY

Held in Abeyance 201

CM5/0818/42 Reclamation,  cut of and fill site, of the 
former Whitwell  Colliery site  to 
facilitate  mixed use redevelopment of 
the site together with landscaping, 
ecology and drainage.

Former Whitwell Colliery, Station Road, 
Whitwell, S80 4TS

Approved Pending 
Legal Agreement

206

CW8/0818/45 Section 73 application seeking 
permission to amend condition 24 of 
planning permission CW8/0811/61 to 
extend the hours of working on the 
established Ward Waste Recycling 
Facility on land at the Quarry Hill 
Industrial Estate, Hallam Fields Road, 
Ilkeston, Derbyshire

Donald Ward Limited, Quarry Hill 
Industrial Estate, Ilkeston,DE7 4AZ

Approved Pending 
Issue of Decision

215

Page 72



1 

 
 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

31 October 2022 
 

Report of the Executive Director – Place 
 

 Item for the Committee’s Information 
 

 CURRENT APPEALS/CALLED IN APPLICATIONS 
 
 
There are currently no appeals lodged with the Planning Inspectorate.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Chris Henning 

Executive Director – Place 
 

Page 73

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

 
 

   
 

FOR PUBLICATION 
 

DERBYSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL  
  

REGULATORY – PLANNING COMMITTEE  
  

31 October 2022  
  

Report of the Executive Director – Place  
  

Item for the Committee’s Information  
  

MATTERS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
– PLACE UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 

 
 

07/10/22 Applicant: Longcliffe Quarries Limited  
Planning Application Code No. CM3/0721/15 
Application Under Section 73 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 to not Comply with Condition 8 of Planning 
Permission CM3/0718/32 to Update the Area where 
Permitted Development Rights Apply, to Better Reflect the 
Extent of Processing Operations at the Site, Brassington 
Moor Quarry, Longcliffe, Brassington, DE4 4BZ 

13/10/22 Applicant: Derbyshire County Council 
Planning Application Code No. CD8/0622/8 
The Provision of a New Stand-A-Lone Two Classroom 
Teaching Block, Complete with Toilets at Hallam Fields 
Junior School, Longfield Lane, Ilkeston, Derbyshire, DE7 4DB  

13/10/22 Delegated Decisions on Schemes Required by Planning 
Conditions: 
CD6/1121/2 Swanwick School and Sports College, Hayes 
Lane, Swanwick, Alfreton  
SD3684 – Intrusive site investigations. 
SD3685 – Written Statement. 

 
 

Chris Henning 
Executive Director - Place 

Page 75

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Application for Importation and Stockpiling of 50,000 Tonnes of Pulverised Fuel Ash (PFA) within Existing Clay Stockpiling Area of Waingroves Quarry at Whiteley Road, Ripley, Derbyshire, DE5 3QL - Applicant: Forterra Building Products Ltd - Planning Application Code No: CM6/0522/5
	7 To consider the report of the Director of Legal and Democratic Services on Application to register land known as Norbriggs Field, Woodthorpe, Derbyshire as a Town or Village Green (VG128)
	8 Current Enforcement Action
	9 Outstanding Application List
	10 Current Appeals/Called in Applications
	11 Matters Determined by the Executive Director - Place under Delegated Powers

